Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Physics Reports

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/physrep





k-core: Theories and applications^{\star}

Yi-Xiu Kong^{a,b}, Gui-Yuan Shi^{a,b,*}, Rui-Jie Wu^b, Yi-Cheng Zhang^b

^a Faculty of Computer and Software Engineering, Huaiyin Institute of Technology, Huaian 233003, PR China ^b Department of Physics, University of Fribourg, Fribourg 1700, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 September 2019 Accepted 29 October 2019 Available online 7 November 2019 Editor: I. Procaccia

Keywords: k-core k-shell Coreness Critical phenomenon Phase transition

ABSTRACT

With the rapid development of science and technology, the world is becoming increasingly connected. The following dire need for understanding both the relationships amongst individuals and the global structural characteristics brings forward the study of network sciences and many interdisciplinary subjects in recent years. As a result, it is crucial to have methods and algorithms that help us to unveil the structural properties of a network. Over the past few decades, many essential algorithms have been developed by scientists from many different fields. This review will focus on one of the most widely used methods called the k-core decomposition. The k-core decomposition is to find the largest subgraph of a network, in which each node has at least k neighbors in the subgraph. The most commonly used algorithm to perform k-core decomposition is a pruning process that to recursively remove the nodes that have degrees less than k. The algorithm was firstly proposed by Seidman in 1983 and soon became one of the most popular algorithms to detect the network structure due to its simplicity and broad applicability. This algorithm is widely adopted to find the densest part of a network across a broad range of scientific subjects including biology, network science, computer science, ecology, economics, social sciences, etc., so to achieve the vital knowledge under different contexts. Besides, a few physicists find that an exciting phase transition emerges with various critical behaviors during the pruning process. This review aims at filling the gap by making a comprehensive review of the theoretical advances on *k*-core decomposition problem, along with a review of a few applications of the *k*-core decomposition from many interdisciplinary perspectives.

© 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1. 2	Introduction									
2.										
	2.1.	Backgro	und concepts	2						
		2.1.1.	Degree distribution	3						
		2.1.2.	Excess degree distribution	3						
		2.1.3.	Generating functions	3						
2.2. The theoretical studies of the <i>k</i> -core										
		2.2.1.	k-core on large uncorrelated networks	6						
		2.2.2.	k-core on large correlated networks and multi-layer networks	8						
3.	Applic	ations of	k-core decomposition	9						

 $\stackrel{\text{tr}}{\sim}$ Authors are listed in alphabetical order.

* Corresponding author at: Department of Physics, University of Fribourg, Fribourg 1700, Switzerland. *E-mail address:* guiyuan.shi@unifr.ch (G.-Y. Shi).

3.1.	The applications in Biology	. 9
3.2.	The applications in Ecology	. 14
3.3.	The applications in Computer Sciences	. 16
3.4.	The applications in Social Networks	. 20
3.5.	The applications in Information Spreading	. 22
3.6.	The applications in Community Detection	. 22
3.7.	The applications in other interdisciplinary fields	. 24
Summa	arv	. 27
Acknow	wledgment	. 28
Refere		. 28
	3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 3.5. 3.6. 3.7. Summ Acknov Refere	3.1. The applications in Biology 3.2. The applications in Ecology 3.3. The applications in Computer Sciences 3.4. The applications in Social Networks 3.5. The applications in Information Spreading 3.6. The applications in Community Detection 3.7. The applications in other interdisciplinary fields Summary Acknowledgment References

1. Introduction

In the recent years, complex networks are widely used to model the real-world systems that are composed of interacting individuals [1–8]. By exploring the structural characteristics of the network, we are able to have an in-depth understanding of the properties of the real-world systems. *k*-core decomposition, is one of the most widely accepted algorithms due to its linear time complexity [9] and intuitive characteristics. In general, the *k*-core of a network is the maximal subgraph in which each node has at least *k* connections to other nodes in the subgraph, despite how many links we have outside the subgraph. The idea of *k*-core can be traced back to Erdős and Hajnal [10] in 1966, they proposed that the coloring number of a graph *G* to be the least *k* for which there exists an ordering of the nodes of *G* in which each node has fewer than *k* neighbors that are earlier in the ordering. An equivalent expression called the degeneracy was later defined by Lick and White in 1970 [11], they defined that the degeneracy of a graph *G* is the least *k* such that for each induced subgraph of *G*, at least one node in the subgraph has *k* or fewer neighbors.

The commonly accepted concept of k-core was first proposed by Seidman [12] and Seidman also derived an algorithm called the k-core pruning process to obtain the k-core of a given network, which is to remove the nodes that have degree less than k recursively. Here we show a simple illustration of the concepts in Fig. 1.

With this method, the densely connected area can be identified and in order to be included in the *k*-core, a node must have at least *k* links to other nodes in the *k*-core, regardless of how many other nodes they are connected to outside the *k*-core. Another closely related concept is called the *k*-shell [13], which is defined as the group of nodes that belong to *k*-core but not belong to (k + 1)-core. Also, a very similar concept that is widely used, the coreness of a node [14]. The statement that the coreness of a node equals *k*, is equivalent to the statement that the node is in the *k*-shell of the network. As the *k*-core pruning process is both simple (linear time complexity) and intuitive, later on, the concept of *k*-core has become surprisingly popular, and widely been applied in many scientific fields.

In the researches of the *k*-core, people come to notice the emergence of criticality of the *k*-core pruning process. The only two outcomes after the pruning process are either the network disappears and no node survives the pruning, or no nodes can be further removed so that the network finally has a fix-sized *k*-core. Researchers [15–20] find that whether or not the network has a *k*-core remaining after the pruning process very much depends on the density of the network, and there exists a specific criterion of the initial density of the network that controls the existence of the *k*-core. Many mathematicians and physicists have made essential contributions in solving the problem theoretically in the past decades [15,18,19,21–23]. Recently, it is reported that the exact analytical result has been obtained [20,24,25]. The *k*-core pruning process is among the few examples that the precise critical behavior is presented in detail and solved analytically. The analytical solution of *k*-core pruning process provides new insights to study the critical phenomena that attract so many scientists. In this review we give a summary of the related researches in this direction, along with a survey of some important applications of *k*-core on various research fields.

The review article will be organized as follows. Section 2 will review the theoretical researches of the critical behavior in *k*-core decomposition, with special emphasis on the theoretical framework to solve the problem and the exact analytical solution that describes the entire pruning process. In Section 3, we will review the applications of *k*-core decomposition in many different scientific fields, to show how this method is used to uncover the underlying information in various kinds of real systems, as well as multiple variations of the standard *k*-core decomposition that have been extended to many different types of networks, including the weighted networks, directed networks, multi-layer networks, dynamic networks and also. Many of the research papers that will be covered in this section already made a great impact in their own disciplines by introducing *k*-core decomposition as a tool to unveil the underlying information. To conclude, Section 4 will summarize the most important messages of this review, and outline the future challenges related to this research topic.

2. Theoretical studies of k-core

2.1. Background concepts

Before we start to survey the researches, we will briefly introduce some fundamental concepts that we will frequently use in the numerous theoretical studies of the *k*-core, to facilitate the reading throughout the theoretical section in this review.



Fig. 1. An illustration of *k*-core and coreness. *k*-shell consists of the nodes that have coreness equal to *k*. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [26].

2.1.1. Degree distribution

The degree of a node in a network is the number of nodes connected to the node. We define the degree distribution p_k to be the fraction of nodes in a network that have degree k. That is to say if there are n nodes in total in a network and n_k of them have degree k, we have $p_k = n_k/n$. Obviously, the sum of all the p_k must be equal to 1, $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p_k = 1$.

On the other hand, we can also regard the value p_k as the probability that a randomly chosen node in the network has degree k. This point of view will be useful in our theoretical studies throughout the whole review.

2.1.2. Excess degree distribution

The degree distribution describes the statistical property of a node, however, sometimes we need more than just node to understand the network. As an example among many, the excess degree distribution is introduced below because it is one of the most important concepts in the study of *k*-core, it is related to the majority of the contents in the following sections. We define the excess degree distribution q_j to be that, upon following a randomly chosen Link, the distribution of the number of node's other links except the link we arrived by Ref. [27]. Through this definition, one can easily obtain the following equation:

$$q_j = \frac{(j+1)p_{j+1}}{c},$$
(1)

here *c* is the average degree: $c = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} kp_k$.

2.1.3. Generating functions

Suppose we have a non-negative integer variable, such as the degree or the excess degree that we have introduced above, and naturally we can have the corresponding probability distribution of these quantities. As a usual treatment, we can define such a generating function that is a polynomial series whose coefficients are the probabilities p_k or q_k . Therefore, we can obtain the following generating functions [27] for degree distribution:

$$G_0(z) = p_0 + p_1 z + p_2 z^2 + \dots + p_n z^n + \dots = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p_k z^k,$$
(2)

and for excess degree distribution:

$$G_1(z) = q_0 + q_1 z + q_2 z^2 + \dots + q_n z^n + \dots = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_k z^k.$$
(3)

Obviously, $G_0(1) = 1$ and $G_1(1) = 1$, $c = G'_0(1)$. Since the coefficients of $G_1(z)$ are determined by the coefficients of $G_0(z)$, they are not actually independent. Meanwhile the relationship between these two functions can obtain by the following:

$$G_1(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_k z^k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{c} (k+1) p_{k+1} z^k = \frac{1}{c} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k p_k z^{k-1} = \frac{1}{c} \frac{dG_0(z)}{dz}.$$
(4)

Since $c = G'_0(1)$, we have the relationship:

$$G_1(z) = \frac{G'_0(z)}{G'_0(1)}.$$
(5)



Fig. 2. (a) An Erdős-Rényi network and its degree distribution. (b) A scale-free network and its degree distribution.

The generating function of Erdős–Rényi networks. In an Erdős–Rényi network (ER network) [28], a node is connected to n - 1 other nodes with a given probability p. Its degree distribution follows a binomial distribution:

$$p_k = \binom{n-1}{k} p^k (1-p)^{n-1-k},$$
(6)

and its average degree is

$$c = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} k p_k = (n-1)p.$$
(7)

For large *n*, it is easy to prove that the degree distribution can be written as $p_k = \frac{e^{-c_c k}}{k!}$, which is a Poisson distribution. Thus, the generating functions of ER-network can be written as:

$$G_0(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-c} c^k}{k!} z^k = e^{c(z-1)},$$
(8)

and

$$G_1(z) = \frac{G'_0(z)}{G'_0(1)} = \frac{c \cdot e^{c(z-1)}}{c} = e^{c(z-1)},$$
(9)

which happens to be the same in this case. In Fig. 2(a) we show an example of the degree distribution of ER network.

The generating function of scale-free networks. A scale-free network (SF network) [29], also called the Barabási–Albert (BA) model, is a network whose degree distribution follows a power law distribution:

$$p_k = \frac{k^{-\gamma}}{\zeta(\gamma)} \qquad (k \ge 1) \tag{10}$$

here, $\gamma > 2$, $\zeta(\gamma)$ is the Riemann zeta function: $\zeta(\gamma) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{-\gamma}$, and for k = 0, $p_0 = 0$. We can give the generating function for the degree distribution:

$$G_0(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k^{-\gamma}}{\zeta(\gamma)} z^k = \frac{\text{Li}_{\gamma}(z)}{\zeta(\gamma)},\tag{11}$$

here, $\text{Li}_{\gamma}(z)$ is the polylogarithm function: $\text{Li}_{\gamma}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} z^k / k^{\gamma}$. Obviously, $\text{Li}_{\gamma}(1) = \zeta(\gamma)$. In addition, we can obtain the average degree of the network by taking the derivation of the above generating function at z = 1:

$$c = G'_{0}(1) = \frac{\text{Li}_{\gamma-1}(z)}{z \cdot \zeta(\gamma)}\Big|_{z=1} = \frac{\zeta(\gamma-1)}{\zeta(\gamma)} = \frac{\text{Li}_{\gamma-1}(1)}{\text{Li}_{\gamma}(1)}.$$
(12)

Finally, the generating function for the excess degree distribution can be written as follows:

$$G_1(z) = \frac{G'_0(z)}{G'_0(1)} = \frac{\text{Li}_{\gamma-1}(z)}{\zeta(\gamma-1)}.$$
(13)

In Fig. 2(b) we show an example of the degree distribution of scale-free network.

The correlated networks. All the previous definitions or models are used to describe the random networks. However, in reality, most of the networks, are not completely random. Many networks show "assortative mixing", that means, a preference that a high-degree node tends to attach to other high-degree nodes, while a few other networks show "disassortative mixing", which means high-degree nodes tend to connect low-degree nodes. We often referring these characteristics as 'correlated', in contrast to 'uncorrelated'.

In the year of 2002, M. Newman [30] defined the quantity e_{ij} to be the joint probability distribution of the excess degrees of the two nodes at either end of a randomly chosen link, that is to say, given a randomly chosen link, the probability that a node at one end of the link has a degree of i + 1 and the other node on the other end of the link has a degree of j + 1. Obviously, e_{ij} satisfies the following rules:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} e_{ij} = 1,$$
(14)

and

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} e_{ij} = q_j. \tag{15}$$

Besides, for undirected networks that we focus in the review, e_{ij} should be symmetric in its indices: $e_{ij} = e_{ji}$

In particular, in a network with no assortative mixing (also called the degree–degree correlation), $e_{ij} = q_i \cdot q_j$. Such a network is called an uncorrelated network. And if there exists assortative mixing, e_{ij} will differ from this value and the level of assortative mixing can be quantified by the degree–degree correlation function: $\langle ij \rangle - \langle i \rangle \langle j \rangle = \sum_{ij} ij \cdot (e_{ij} - q_i q_j)$.

Consider the extreme case that the correlation function takes its maximum value, which it achieves on a perfectly assortative network, i.e. $e_{ij} = q_j \delta_{ij}$. This value is equal to $\sigma_p^2 = \sum_i i^2 q_i - (\sum_i i q_i)^2$. It is convenient to normalize the correlation function by the maximal value:

$$r = \frac{1}{\sigma_p^2} \sum_{ij} ij \cdot (e_{ij} - q_i q_j), \tag{16}$$

which is the Pearson correlation coefficient of the degrees at either ends of a link and it satisfies $-1 \le r \le 1$.

2.2. The theoretical studies of the k-core

The theoretical study of *k*-core mainly wants to answer such questions: Given an initial network, will the network have a remaining *k*-core after the pruning process? Where is the corresponding critical point? What is this critical behavior? If *k*-core exists, what is its network structure?

Although in reality most networks are not random, to answer the above questions, we first consider a simple situation, the large random networks. We will introduce the researches on correlated (not random) networks later. The statistical properties of a random network are determined by the degree distribution of the network, i.e., a random network with the same degree distribution and the same density of degree can be regarded as indistinguishable. So given an initial network, it usually means that our starting point is a large uncorrelated network with a known degree of distribution and density. In the following we will present the most important researches that advances the theoretical studies of *k*-core on large uncorrelated (random) networks.

2.2.1. k-core on large uncorrelated networks

In 1987, Luczak [15] studied the size of the *k*-core of the random networks G(n, p) (G(n, p) is a network with *n* nodes in which each pair of nodes is connected independently with probability p = p(n)). Denote the number of the nodes in *k*-core by v(k, n, p), he obtained the following three theorems in this paper.

Theorem 1. If $k \ge 3$, with probability tending to 1 either v(k, n, p) = 0 or $v(k, n, p) \ge 0.0002n$ as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 2. For every $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a constant d that for c > d and $k < c - c^{0.5+\epsilon}$, $v(k, n, p) \ge n - n \cdot exp(-c^{\epsilon})$ with probability tending to 1 as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 3. For every $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a constant *d* that for every *k* and *c* > *d*, with probability tending to 1, either v(k, n, p) = 0 or $v(k, n, p) > n - nc^{-0.5+\epsilon}$ as $n \to \infty$.

The first theorem states that for $k \ge 3$, the number of the nodes in the *k*-core is either 0 or larger than 0.0002*n*. That suggests the existence of a discontinuous transition. From the rest two theorems we know that in some conditions while the average degree *c* is large enough, the size of *k*-core is either 0 or very large (almost the whole network), and also imply that the transition is discontinuous. To the best of our knowledge, this paper is the first attempt to deal with the *k*-core problem theoretically.

In 1996, Pittel et al. [16] found the exact solution of the transition point of the *k*-core of G(n, p). Given $\lambda > 0$, let $Z(\lambda)$ be a Poisson distributed random variable with mean λ . Then they introduce $p_k(\lambda) = \text{Probability}(Z(\lambda) \ge k)$ and $\pi_k(\lambda) = \text{Probability}(Z(\lambda) \ge k - 1)$. Here $k \ge 3$ is fixed integer. Define $\gamma = \inf\{\lambda/\pi_k(\lambda) : \lambda > 0\}$. It is easy to see that the function $\lambda/\pi_k(\lambda)$ approaches to ∞ as $\lambda \to 0$, thus γ_k is attained at $\lambda_k > 0$. Clearly, when $c < \gamma_k$, the equation $c = \lambda/\pi_k(\lambda)$ has no root when $c > \gamma_k$. There are two roots. Denote the larger root by $\gamma_k(c)$. Pittel et al. obtained the following theorems:

Theorem 4. Given $\delta \in (0, 0.5)$, suppose $c \le \gamma_k - n^{-\delta}$. Let $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ be chosen arbitrarily small. The probability that G(n, p) has a k-core with at least ϵn nodes is $O(exp(-n^{\rho}))$, $\forall \rho < (0.5 - \delta)^{1/6}$. The probability that there is a k-core of any size $(\ge k+1)$ is $O(n^{-(k-2)(k+1)/2})$.

Theorem 5. Given $\delta \in (0, 0.5)$, suppose $c \ge \gamma_k + n^{-\delta}$. Fix $\sigma \in (3/4, 1 - \delta/2)$ and define $\overline{\zeta} = \min\{2\sigma - 3/2, 1/6\}$. $\forall \zeta < \overline{\zeta}$, with probability $\ge 1 - O(\exp(-n^{\zeta}))$, G(n, p) contains a giant k-core of size $np_k(\lambda_k(c)) + O(n^{\sigma})$.

From these two theorems, they implied that while $k \ge 3$, there exists a sudden emergence of a giant *k*-core which the size is np_k , when the number of the links increases from smaller than c_k to larger.

In 2003, Fernholz et al. [17] obtained the results of k-core on random graph with degree sequences that are smooth and sparse, that means we can use degree distribution to describe the degree sequences and the average degree is finite. They stated that the existence of a giant k-core is related to the probability that the genealogy tree of a certain branching process contains a perfect infinite (k - 1)-ary subtree. They obtained the final results by using generating function. Their results show that for any such random graph, the 2-core exists almost surely if and only if it has a giant component. They also apply their results to power law distribution networks, and find the thresholds of the existence of the k-core.

In 2005, Schwarz [18] solved the *k*-core percolation on Bethe latices. At first the nodes in the Bethe lattice are independently occupied with probability p, after that, they eliminate the occupied nodes with fewer than *k* neighboring occupied nodes step by step until all surviving nodes (if any) have at least *k* surviving neighbors. They solved the problem by considering the half Bethe lattice, and found the recursion relations for two quantities at level n + 1 in terms of quantities at level *n*. By analyzing these two quantities, finally they obtained the size of *k*-core.

In the same year, S. N. Dorogovtsev [22] solved the *k*-core percolation on random uncorrelated networks. Their model is also at first to randomly remove some nodes of such a network with the probability (1 - p), and then find the size of *k*-core in the remaining subgraph. They also took into account the treelike structure of the infinite sparse network and concluded that the existence of *k*-core coincides with the infinite (k - 1)-ary subtree. Also in Ref. [19], they demonstrated that the so called 'corona' of the *k*-core that is a subset of nodes in the *k*-core that have exactly k-neighbors in the *k*-core plays a crucial role. The threshold of the *k*-core percolation is at the same time the percolation threshold of finite corona clusters. Riordan et al. [23] also considered the *k*-core of random graph $G(n, \gamma/n)$. Here γ is the average degree of the network. They also considered the branching process, and derived the exact results.

In 2014, N. Azimi-Tafreshi [21], derived the exact self-consistency equations to obtain the birth points of the *k*-core and their relative sizes for uncorrelated multi-layer networks, and presented the pruning algorithm for the *k*-core decomposition of multiplex networks.

In 2015, G. J. Baxter [20] presented the theory of the *k*-core pruning process, derived the exact equations describing this process and solved them numerically. They got four recurrence equations by analyzing the pruning process from *n*th step to the (n + 1)th step. And by the numerical result they find that for the $k(k \ge 3)$ -core pruning process of the *ER* network, when a little below the threshold (critical point), a long-lasting transient process occurs, and this transient process ends with a collapse in which the entire network disappears completely. Fig. 3 shows their results.



Fig. 3. Size *S* of the Erdős–Rényi network versus time t during the pruning process for k = 3 in two cases. (i) Below the threshold $\langle q \rangle_c$, the system experiences a long "plateau" stage before the collapse in the end. Shown are numerical calculations for mean degree $\langle q \rangle = 3.3509$ (blue solid line) and simulations (triangles) for a network of 10⁸ nodes showing similar total time. (ii) Above $\langle q \rangle_c$, the system relaxes to a finite size, numerical solution for $\langle q \rangle = 3.35092$ (red solid line) and simulations (circles). *Source:* Reprinted from Ref. [20].

Previously we have shown that there exist many attempts and efforts on solving the *k*-core pruning process on large uncorrelated networks, among them the work presented by Baxter et al. [20] is especially important and profound. They proposed a set of equations to describe the process and the four equations forge the building block of the analytical solution. While theoretical framework is successful, due to the fundamental difficulty of solving the math, Baxter et al. had not obtained the closed form of the solution of the intermediate states of the pruning process.

Until recently, Shi et al. [24] published a preprint and stated that the closed form of the solution has been obtained, which is an important step forward. Their results show that the four equations proposed by Baxter et al. [20] can be deduced to a univariable iteration and the *k*-core pruning process can be perfectly mapped into this iteration. They obtained the general form of the iteration in their paper and once given the initial state, each state of the univariable iteration can be easily computed and hence provides the result of the corresponding *k*-core pruning process. Specifically, if the network is randomly generated and uncorrelated, their results can then give the exact analytical expressions of the size and the structure of the remaining *k*-core for any intermediate step during the pruning process. The final state can be obtained by extrapolation easily. Their theoretical analysis is further validated by numerical simulations. With the exact solution, they have found the precise behavior of the critical phenomenon observed in the *k*-core pruning process. The critical exponents can then be naturally obtained, and they also obtain the exact coefficients of the critical power-law relations for ER networks. In the following, we show in detail how the exact solution of *k*-core pruning process is obtained.

We begin with a brief introduction of the theoretical framework given by Baxter et al. in the previous paper [20]. Now consider the *n*th pruning process on the network N_{n-1} . Let v_{n-1} be the probability that if we randomly follow a link to one node in N_{n-1} , the node has an excess degree more than k - 2:

$$v_{n-1} = 1 - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} q_{n-1,j}.$$
(17)

The nodes that will be removed after *n*th *k*-core pruning consist of two terms: (1) the nodes that have degree less than k. (2) the nodes that have degree no less than k but their neighbors all have degree less than k. Note that in the original theoretical model proposed in the previous paper [20] the second term was missing by an oversight. Shi et al. pointed out this oversight and proposed the correct equations in their paper:

$$p_{n,0} = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} p_{n-1,j} + \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} p_{n-1,j} (1 - v_{n-1})^j.$$
(18)

The nodes whose degree will be *i* after *n*th pruning are the nodes that have degree of *j* which is no less than $max\{i, k\}$ and j - i neighbors will be removed after *n*th pruning:

$$p_{n,i} = \sum_{j=\max\{i,k\}}^{\infty} p_{n-1,j} {j \choose i} v_{n-1}^{i} (1 - v_{n-1})^{j-i}.$$
(19)

And the excess degree distribution after *n*th pruning can be easily obtained:

$$q_{n,i} = \frac{(i+1)p_{n,i+1}}{\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} ip_{n,i}}$$
(20)

In order to solve the equations that was not analytically resolved, Shi et al. proposed a mathematical treatment to simplify the complex infinite-dimensional simultaneous recurrence equations to an equivalent univariable iteration process, by introducing an auxiliary series y_n . Then the desired quantities like the size of the remaining subgraph in *n*th step S_n as well as its degree distribution, can be obtained and expressed in a simple function of y_n . Here y_n is defined as:

$$y_n = 1 - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} \frac{y_{n-1}^j}{j!} G_1^{(j)} (1 - y_{n-1}),$$
(21)

here $G^{(j)}(z)$ denotes the *j*th derivative of G(z), i.e., $G^{(j)}(z) = d^j G(z)/dz^j$. $y_0 = 1$ and then each y_n can be obtained by computing a univariable iteration process.

The recurrence relation of $G_{n,0}(z)$ (the degree distribution generating function $G_0(z)$ in the *n*th step) can be obtained from (18) and (19):

$$G_{n,0}(z) = G_{n-1,0}(1 - v_{n-1} + zv_{n-1}) + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} p_{n-1,j}(1 - (1 - v_{n-1} + zv_{n-1})^j).$$
(22)

Then by induction:

$$G_{n,0}(z) = G_0(1 - y_n + y_n z) + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \frac{G_0^{(j)}(1 - y_{n-1})}{j!} (y_{n-1}^j - (y_{n-1} - y_n + y_n z)^j),$$
(23)

which can be obtained given y_{n-1} and y_n . Here the nodes in the remaining subgraph after the *n*th pruning have degrees no less than k in the N_{n-1} network. The degree distribution can be directly obtained from the generating function $G_{n,0}(z)$, and the size of the remaining subgraph S_n after pruning *n* is:

$$S_n = \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} p_{n-1,j} = \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} \frac{G_0^{(j)}(1-y_{n-1})}{j!} y_{n-1}^j = 1 - \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \frac{G_0^{(j)}(1-y_{n-1})}{j!} y_{n-1}^j,$$
(24)

which is a unary function of y_{n-1} . Define:

$$f(y) = 1 - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} \frac{y^j}{j!} G_1^{(j)} (1-y)$$

and

$$g(y) = 1 - \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \frac{G_0^{(j)}(1-y)}{j!} y^j$$

Eqs. (21) and (24) can be rewritten as:

$$y_n = f(y_{n-1}),$$
 (25)

and the size of the subgraph S_n is

$$S_n = g(y_{n-1}).$$
 (26)

In addition, they validate their results in SF networks and ER networks. The numerical simulation results confirm that their analytical results are solid.

2.2.2. k-core on large correlated networks and multi-layer networks

Despite the recent progresses mentioned above, later on, Wu et al. [25] also stated they obtained the exact results of the k-core pruning process, but using a completely different approach from the generating function. The method they used is called the NonBacktracking Expansion Branch (NBEB), which was proposed as a representation of a network in Computer Science [31,32]. They found that the series y_n introduced in Ref. [24] that is used as a pure mathematical trick, now can be endowed with a probabilistic meaning. They also proved that the solution given by the new method is equivalent to the generating function approach, and more importantly, the NBEB approach is found to be capable of dealing with degree-degree correlated networks, which is an unprecedented progress. They also validated their results by numerical simulations on several networks. Following this work, in another paper by Wu et al. [33], they

;)



Fig. 4. The Protein–Protein Interaction (PPI) network introduced by Altaf et al. [38] and the classification structure by using *k*-core. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [38].

further extended the NBEB method to solve the *k*-core pruning process on multi-layer networks and developed the socalled Multicolor Nonbacktracking Expand Branch (MNEB). This method allows to analyze the results under different circumstances from the simplest uncorrelated multi-layer networks to the most complex situation that both in-layer and inter-layer correlations exist.

Now we have introduced the most important contributions to the body of knowledge that are related to the theoretical analyses of *k*-core problem, mainly focusing on the criticality of the *k*-core. Although difficult, multiple theoretical progresses [34-36] have been made to the center of the problem. Until recently it is reported that the exact analytical results are obtained by using generating functions and also the NonBacktracking Expansion Branch. Especially, with the generating functions, one can obtain the detailed critical behaviors of the *k*-core pruning process, and this result suggests a new approach to analytically study the giant class of critical phenomena [37].

3. Applications of *k*-core decomposition

Above we have reviewed the theoretical advances in analyzing the *k*-core problem. Recent studies in the critical behavior of the *k*-core pruning process have shown significant developments. Meanwhile, due to the simplicity and the effectiveness of the *k*-core decomposition, extensive applications of *k*-core, *k*-shell, or coreness have been widely seen in a variety of scientific fields, including biology, ecology, computer sciences, information spreading, geology and so on. In the following, we will survey some of the progresses in recent years, according to chronological order. We hope the survey will shed lights on the potential directions where *k*-core and its multiple variations can be used as powerful tools.

3.1. The applications in Biology

We start with introducing the *k*-core applications in biology. In 2003, Altaf et al. [38] proposed a procedure to predict the feature of functional-unknown proteins based upon *k*-core and phylogenetic analysis of Protein–Protein Interaction (PPI) networks. They have carried out pull-down assay to establish interactions among the proteins of Escherichia coli (E. coli). 10 238 distinct binary interactions have been actually identified from experiment data. They prepared a list of 1972 function-unknown proteins and then divided the function-known proteins into several groups according to their functionality. As an instance, in this paper they used their method for the group called Electron Transfer (ET) proteins. These proteins are involved in energy metabolism of E. coli. They extracted 193 binary interactions out of 10 238 interactions from the original data. For each of these 193 binary interactions either each proteins are of ET group or one is of ET group and the other one is function unknown. They built a network from the 193 interactions and obtain the largest *k*-core of this system, which is a 2-core and is composed of 22 proteins. Furthermore, they classified these proteins into several trees as shown in Fig. 4. They found that with phylogenetic analysis both *yciV* and *nuoF* interact with *nuoE*, and accordingly they predict that the function of *yciV* is similar to those of *nuoF* and *nuoE*. The *k*-core decomposition in this paper is used as a method to extract the central information, i.e., to remove the extra unimportant links of the PPI network.

Later in 2005, Wuchty et al. [39] found that the probability that a node in protein network is both necessary and evolutionarily conserved, increases continuously to the innermost cores. Although connections alone are usually not



Fig. 5. A sample network consisting of three core/peripheral structures, represented by gray circles (1–3). An empty loop node is a core member. The black and gray nodes represent 1-peripheries and 2-peripheries, respectively. Labeled nodes (AF) are different types of 1-peripheral: (A) closed single-core periphery; (B) multi-core periphery; (C) fully open single-core periphery; (D) limited open single-core periphery; (E) and (F) core Member periphery.

Source: Reproduced from Ref. [40].

sufficient criteria for assessing protein function, evolution, and topological correlation, they classify nodes as global and local centers, depending on appearance in the kernel or outer cores. The observation that global central proteins are involved in a large number of protein complexes indicates that global central proteins can work as a pillar in the evolution of proteomes. Even with the shortcomings of protein interaction data, they have found that the results are very robust for inaccurately determined protein interactions.

Luo et al. [40] systematically explored the core/peripheral structure of the protein interaction network (PIN). They proposed several calculation methods to identify two types of cores from the PIN, namely the *k*-plex core and the star cores. An example is shown in Fig. 5. After applying these methods to the yeast protein interaction network, they successfully identified 110 *k*-plex cores and 109 star cores. The *k*-plex core is one of the largest subgraphs of the network, where each node of the subgraph is connected to at least n - k other nodes, here *n* is the number of nodes in the induced subgraph. The basic algorithm is done through depth-first search. They found that the *k*-plex core consists of a "party" protein, a "date" protein, or both. They also revealed that there exist two types of 1-peripheral proteins: the "party" periphery, tends to be part of a protein complex, and the "connecter" periphery, tends to be linked to different proteins or protein complexes. Their results also show that in addition to connectivity, other changes in structural properties are associated with changes in biological properties. In addition, they showed a negative correlation between evolution rate and connectivity, and core/peripheral structures help to reveal the existence of multiple levels of protein expression kinetics. Their results indicate that structure and connectivity can be used to characterize the topological properties of protein interaction networks and to elucidate the functional organization of cellular systems.

Schwab et al. [41] studied a small neuronal network that functions in the control of the mammalian breathing rhythm through periodic firing bursts. They used k-core to understand these discontinuities in the SO ("stable oscillation") or HA ("High Activity") phase boundaries. They pointed out that as the number of nodes in the Erdős-Rényi random network increases, the k-core clusters show a large k value at a well-defined threshold. As an example, they showed that the k kernel of a symmetric random adjacency matrix in Fig. 6(a), almost all nodes form a five-core cluster. Randomly deleting a node does not change this feature, as shown in Fig. 6(b), but randomly deleting two nodes produces an obvious phase transition process in which the network is dominated by a quad-core cluster of Fig. 6(c). The extra continuation of the deletion of the additional node does not change the main structure of the quad core, as shown in Fig. 6(d). They emphasized that the k-core concept does not apply to SO-Q (Q phase is where all neurons are permanently in a state of low activity) transitions. Along the transition line, neurons with the highest connectivity are able to trigger excitation waves that propagate throughout the system. They studied a simple version of the Feldman and Del Negro (FDN) description of a rhythmic neural network in which a combination of excitable integration and evoked neurons modified by activity-mediated slower desensitization is used. They showed that there is asymmetry in the phase diagram between the transition from the stable blasting phase to the stationary phase and the transition from the stable blasting phase to the HA phase. The first transition is well described by the mean field theory, while the staircase structure of the phase boundary of the second transition reflects the network connectivity properties. This asymmetry stems from the difference between voltage-mediated excitation of diffusion wave dynamics and collective desensitization. The asymmetry



Fig. 6. *k*-cores of a symmetric $N \times N$ random adjacency matrix. Nodes making up the five core are marked in red (medium gray), four-core nodes in blue (dark gray), three-core nodes in green (light gray), while removed nodes are marked in black. The yellow outlined square indicates the node to be removed on the subsequent panel. The four figures (a), (b), (c) and (d) show a progressively decreasing network size: $N_A = 43$, $N_B = 42$, $N_C = 41$, and $N_D = 40$.

Source: Reproduced from Ref. [41].



Fig. 7. Regional segmentation scheme. The brain is divided into 82 brain regions, consisting of 68 cortical regions (34 per hemisphere) and 14 subcortical regions (7 per hemisphere). Source: Reproduced from Ref. [42].

and failure of the mean field theory in the FDN model is due to the fact that it identifies desensitization by the number of action potentials that neurons receive rather than generate.

Heuvel et al. [42] showed that the brain center formed a so-called "rich club", which means the high degree nodes tend to connect with other high degree nodes rather than the fewer linked nodes, revealing important topological information of the brain network. The whole brain structure network of 21 subjects was reconstructed using diffusion tensor imaging data. By examining the connectivity characteristics of these networks, they found a set of 12 strongly interconnected bihemispheric central regions, including the forelimb, the upper frontal and superior parietal cortex, and the subcortical hippocampus, putamen and thalamus, as shown in Fig. 7. Importantly, it has been found that the density of these hub areas is more intensively connected than that would be expected based solely on their degree to form a rich club. They discussed the potential function of the rich club organization on the human connectome, especially considering its role in information integration and the robustness of its structural core. They computed the characteristic metrics of the network organization, including (node-specific) degree *k*, clustering coefficient, characteristic path length, betweenness centrality, normalized clustering coefficient, and normalized path length (both relative to a group of 100 comparable random graphs), global efficiency, assortativity and modularity, with the Brain Connectivity Toolbox as previously described (Rubinov and Sporns [43]). Their results are shown in Figs. 7, 8.

This "rich club" observation is closely related to the assortativity we have introduced in the theoretical part of the review. As we previously introduced, these types of networks are called the correlated networks, the NBEB method by Wu et al. [25] may have a potential to obtain interesting results.

Using graph theory, Shanahan et al. [44] showed that the pigeon telencephalon is organized in a similar way to mammals. Both are modular small-world networks with connected cores of hub nodes that includes prefrontal-like and hippocampal structures. Fig. 9 shows the transverse sections through the pigeon telencephalon. Topologically, these hub nodes are the most central area of the pigeon's brain and the most densely connected, meaning that information flow plays an essential role. With the help of the *k*-core decomposition, they found that for the pigeon connectome, complete



Fig. 8. Rich club's unweighted and weighted group network capabilities. *a* shows the rich club's average brain network's rich club $\Phi_{norm}(k)$ curve (i.e., reflecting all direct connections between brain regions). The figure shows the structure of the rich club behavior brain network, showing an increased standardized rich club coefficient $\Phi_{norm}(k)$ from *k* range 11 to 17. *b*-*d* show the weighted group average structure of the rich club value brain network $Phi^{w-nos}(k)$ [weighted by the number of connection streamline (*b*)], $\Phi^{w-nosROI}(k)$ [weighted with the number of connectivity streamlines corrected for ROI volume (*c*)], and $\Phi^{w-fa}(k)$ [weighted with the FA value of the white matter connections (*d*)]. These results show rich club coefficient values for the range *k*, for Φ^w (dark gray), Φ^w_{random} (lightgray)and $\Phi^w_n orm$ (red). Similar to the unweighted network, Φ^w is found to be larger than Φ^w_{random} , suggesting rich-club organization for all four variations of the structural brain network. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [42].

erosion happened at i = 11 and the innermost k-core (i = 10) contained more than half of the nodes in the network. However, when the nodes are ranked according to the subshell members (as shown in Fig. 10), four of the five connector hubs (AI, APH, CDL, and NCL) are considered to be in the innermost sub-shell, and all five connector hubs are all located in the innermost 2 sub-shells (Fig. 11).

Based on all the network metrics used for evaluation (node degrees, betweenness centrality, *k*-core and sub-shell membership), the connector hubs are uniquely prominent, and may be designated as the connecting core of the pigeon forebrain. Overall, their analysis show that although there was no cortical layer and nearly 300 million years of independent evolution, the connectivity of the bird brain was identical to that of the mammalian brain.

Emerson et al. [45] established a human proteins Domains Co-occurrence Network (DCN) based on Pfam (Protein family) data. DCN can be used to study protein functions and interactions by representing protein domains and their coexistence in genes, and by mapping cancer mutations into individual protein domains. They then used the *k*-core decomposition technique to identify cores of DCN, which is a highly connected domain in the network. Their results show that these central regions were found to be more evolutionarily conserved than peripheral domains. Combining the somatic mutation information for ovarian, breast and prostate cancer diseases from the TCGA (The Cancer Genome Atlas) database, they projected somatic mutations to a single protein domain and used local false discovery rate to identify domains of significant mutations in each cancer type listed above. The Significantly mutation domain was found to be rich in cancer disease pathways. However, they found that the core of the DCN does not contain any significant mutation domains coexist in a large number of genes with other protein domains. Mutations and DCNs provide a framework for understanding hierarchical structure in protein function from a network perspective. The results indicate that most of the protein domains in the DCN cores have lower mutation frequencies, and that the protein domains in the peripheral regions contribute more to the disease. These findings are suggested to possibly contribute to drug development in the future.

Bola et al. [46] studied the emergence of cognition from the network perspective. Previously the mainstream hypothesis states that the interaction between distributed brain regions through phase synchronization provides the basis for



Fig. 9. Transverse sections through the pigeon telencephalon showing the locations of each of the 52 regions used in the study. Regions are colored according to their module and sub-module membership (see also Fig. 4 in Ref. [44]). Color codes: red, associative; blue, cortico-hippocampal; green, visual; brown, viscero-limbic; yellow, auditory. Regions colored white are excluded from the study. While the connections of these white regions have been explored, they have not been systematically clarified nor unequivocally confirmed. Black areas, such as the one labeled "V" at A14.00, are ventricles.

Source: Reproduced from Ref. [44].

Region	Degree	Region	Sub-shell		
AI	42	AI	19		
NCL	37	APH	19		
AD	31	CDL	19		
CDL	28	HD	19		
APH	27	HL	19		
Hp-DM	24	NCL	19		
PoA	24	AD	18		
SL	22	HA	18		
MD	21	Hp-DM	18		
NSTL	21	MD	18		
HD	20	NFL	18		
AA	19	MM	17		
НА	19	NMm	17		
NFL	18	PoA	17		
StL	17	SL	17		
SM	15	AA	16		
MC	14	Ac	16		
MM	14	Hp - VM	16		
NMm	14	NSTL	16		
Ac	13	SM	16		
Hp-VM	13	StL	16		
StM	13	StM	16		
CPi	12	CPi	15		
HL	12	TnA	15		
TnA	12	TPO	15		
TPO	12	TuO	15		
		VP	15		

Fig. 10. Node degree and sub-shell number (following *k*-core decomposition) for the top 50% of the nodes in rank order. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [44].

cognitive processing. This phase-synchronized networks are transient and dynamic, built on a typical time scale of milliseconds to practice specific cognitive operations. The authors studied whether the cognitive processing changes the strength of the functional connection or, on the contrary requires a qualitatively new topological structure of the functional network. To solve this problem, they recorded a high-density electroencephalographic (EEG) while the subjects performed a visual discrimination task. They conducted Event-Related Network Analysis (ERNA), where the source-space weighted



Fig. 11. Sub-shells of the innermost *k*-core following *k*-core decomposition. The innermost *k*-core (i = 10) contains almost half the nodes in the network, but its sub-shell structure reveals a finer level of organization. All five hub nodes (shown in bold) appear in the innermost two sub-shells. *Source*: Reproduced from Ref. [44].

functional network was characterized by graph measurements. ERNA reveals rapid, transient and frequency-specific recombination of network topology in cognitive processes. In particular, cognitive networks are characterized by strong clusters, low modularity, and strong interactions between hub nodes. Their findings indicate that dense and clustered connections between central nodes of different modules are cognitive "network fingerprints". This reorganization model may facilitate the global integration of information and provide the foundation for the "global workspace" that is necessary for cognition and awareness.

In 2016, Lahav et al. [47] applied an analysis using k-shell decomposition to establish a human cortex topology model, revealing the hierarchical structure of the cortical network. As we previously introduced, the k-shell decomposition is closely related to the concept of k-core. It uses the exactly same decomposition algorithm but the output k-shell is the "shell" instead of the core, i.e., a k-shell is the collection of nodes that is left when removing (k - 1)-core from k-core. These shells, representing known cortical networks, allow a detailed picture of cortical hierarchical structure. In the characterization of cortical regions as well as hierarchies, this method is shown to have an increased precision than common approaches. The analysis was applied on a human cortical network that is constructed from Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) as well as Delayed Sequence Intubation (DSI) information of six individuals. Such analysis enables us to portray an in-depth photo of cortical connection concentrating on various areas of inter-connected layers across the cortex. Their findings show that the human cortex is highly connected and also efficient, and unlike the Internet network that consists of no separated nodes. The cortical network has an inner-core together with outer shells of increasing connections that altogether become a giant component. All these components were more categorized right into three hierarchies in accordance with connection account, with each hierarchy showing various useful roles. Such a model could describe an efficient flow of information from one of lowest hierarchy to the highest one, with each movement allowing increased information integration. On the top, the highest hierarchy (the core) functions as an global interconnected center and more importantly, shows high correlation with consciousness associated areas, suggesting that the core might function as a system for consciousness to emerge.

Above we only show a small fraction of the many researches that apply the *k*-core decomposition to study biological topics. More interesting topics can be found in Ref. [45,48-53].

3.2. The applications in Ecology

Recently there has been a number of novel researches [54–56] that study ecology from the perspective of network science. We briefly survey some of them in the following.

Garcia et al. [55] recently suggested an additional *k*-core decomposition application in ecology. They specify 3 *k*-degree based upon *k*-core decomposition: *k*-degree, *k*-risk as well as *k*-radius. The first one, *k*-radius, evaluates the range from the node to the innermost layer of the partner guild, while *k*-degree is a centrality measure based upon *k*-shell decomposition. *k*-risk is a step of the susceptibility of a network to the loss of a specific species. They assessed 89 cooperative networks involving plant pollinators or seed communicators. They utilized two extinction processes. The first process is to progressively eliminate a species of a species according to the chosen index, despite which guild it belongs to, and also in the second extinction procedure, just the animal species are actively eliminated The following extinction happens when a node is found to be isolated [57]. They found that when species from the both two guilds go extinct, if people want to find out the vital species that keep the giant component, then *k*-risk is the most effective ranking



Fig. 12. Mutualistic community in Tenerife, Canary Islands (Spain), with 68 species and 129 links [29]. In mutualism, species fall into two disjoint guilds, such as plants and pollinators or plants and seed dispersers. Ties amongst species of the same guild are forbidden. (a) Bipartite plot of this community. (b) Interaction matrix. *Source:* reproduced from Ref. [56].



Fig. 13. Gene-pathway association network. *Source:* reproduced from Ref. [56].

index. When only the animal guild species go extinct and the consequent cascading extinctions of species happen in the secondary guild, the most reliable ranking index for the essential species that preserve the giant component is *k*-degree. Nevertheless, the MusRank index is more efficient when the goal is to recognize essential species to maintain the highest degree of species richness in the second class.

Similarly, Garcia et al. [56] proposed a structural approach to visualize bipartite biological networks, as shown in Fig. 12, where they used the *k*-core decomposition method as a tool to obtain the nodes that share connectivity properties. An example is shown in Fig. 13.



Fig. 14. Collapse of a plant–pollinator mutualistic network and the tipping line of mutualistic ecosystem. (a), a bipartite mutualistic network of a plant–pollinator ecosystem located in the Chilean Andes. The network is formed by 4 pairs of concentric rings. Each pair of rings contains species with the same *k*-shell ks, ranging from 1 to 4. The innermost core is at $k_{core}^{max} = 4$. Species in the inner rings of each *k*-shell represent the pollinators. (b) Fixed point average density (properly rescaled) $\langle x^* \rangle = N^{-1} \sum_i x_i^*$ as a function of the threshold K_{γ} for the mutualistic network in a, obtained by numerical integration. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [59].

In 2018, Filho et al. [58] constructed a metabolic network of 17 plants covering unicellular organisms, as well as dicotyledonous plants. The network was constructed based on the substrate-product model and then they perform a *k*-core percolation on the network. The metabolites distribution across the percolation layer suggests a correlation exists between the metabolic integration layer and the topology of the metabolic network. Their results show that the metabolites in the maximum *k*-core which means they concentrated in the internal network only contain the molecules of the primary basal metabolism. In addition, they found a high proportion of a common set of metabolites in 17 plants, centered on the inner-core layer, while the metabolites considered to be participants in plant secondary metabolism are concentrated in the outermost layer of the network. This data indicates that metabolites in the central layer form a basic molecular module in which the entire plant is metabolically anchored. Elements from the core of the center are involved in almost all plant metabolic reactions, indicating that the plant metabolic network has a very centralized topology.

Dynamic system collapses into an unrecoverable state in ecosystems, human societies, financial systems, and network infrastructure. Although these events are widespread and widely influential, we are still largely in the search for causes of collapse and instability, and theoretical studies have so far failed to quantitatively determine the structural characteristics of networks formed by interacting species. Recently in 2018, Morone et al. [59] derive the theoretical conditions for the stability of the symbiotic ecosystem as constraints on the dynamic interaction strength between species and network topology invariants: *k*-core. They showed their important results that the *k*-core as a topological invariant of the network, is the condition for the stability of a mutualistic ecosystem as a constraint on the strength of the dynamical interactions between species. Their solution predicts that when the largest *k*-core species in the network go extinct due to weakening of interaction strength, the system will reach its critical point of collapse. Fig. 14 shows the process of the collapse of a plant–pollinator mutualistic network and the tipping line of mutualistic ecosystem. As a key variable involved in the collapse phenomenon, the core of the monitoring network may be a powerful method for predicting catastrophic events in the vast environment from ecological and biological networks to finance.

3.3. The applications in Computer Sciences

As a widely used computational algorithm, k-core is naturally to be applied to the Computer Sciences. In the numerous researches [60–71], we show some examples that contribute to the existing knowledge.

In 2004, Gaertler et al. [72] found the *k*-core useful in examining the Autonomous System (AS) Graph. They apply the method to the field of Internet graph evaluation at the AS level. When dealing with large amounts of data, the usual technique is to filter out irrelevant information. While the most common are the degree of nodes, such as Refs. [73–75], they used core concepts in their study. The core can be used to filter peripheral ASes. For example, an appropriate *k* value

can be selected based on the number of remaining ASes, in their case they chose to use the maximum k that keeps at least 200 ASes. After the cleaning process, they devised a new algorithm that takes temporal characteristics of the network into account, and found that the numerous transients that affect the Internet seem to be to have a very different effect on their activities, ranging from no (earthworm attack, misconfiguration, etc.) to significant one (DDoS for DNS hosting servers), offering a method to distinguish them.

Alvarez et al. [76] also applied the *k*-core decomposition to study large scale Internet graphs at the AS level. This method enables the characterization of increasingly central cores of networks, easily revealing ordered and structural features. This structure suggests that the Internet is organized in a specified hierarchy of linked subgraphs of raising centrality with self-similar properties. The research study of the *k*-core subgraphs reveals the primary hierarchical layers of the network and also permits their analytical characterization.

In the same year, they also used *k*-core decomposition to study large-scale Internet diagrams at the autonomous system level [76]. This approach allows for a step-by-step characterization of the central core of the network, making it easy to reveal hierarchies and structural attributes. The Internet map shows the remarkable properties of all *k*-cores with a single connected component with constant statistical characteristics (degree distribution, correlation spectrum, etc.). This feature shows that the Internet is organized in a defined hierarchy of connection subgraphs, which have the centrality of self-similar properties. Their results show that *k*-core decomposition also provides an interesting tool to track the time evolution of Internet maps and test the stability and reliability of different mapping strategies. *k*-core decomposition allows the network to be pruned step-by-step and the subgraphs that increased centrality are identified. The study of the obtained subgraphs reveals the main layers of the network and allows them to be statistically characterized. Worthwhile to mention, they have also observed statistical self-similarity in the topological properties of the Internet in ASes, which have increasingly important cores.

Soon in 2006, Alvarez et al. [77] proposed a universal visualization tool for large-scale networks. Using *k*-core decomposition and the natural hierarchy generated from it, the algorithm-generated layout has a simple 2D representation and encodes a large amount of information. One can easily read the basic features of the graph (degrees, levels, positions of the highest nodes, etc.) and more in-depth features, such as the relationship between nodes and the hierarchical position of the neighbors. Their results show that the rationalization of the corresponding graphs provides a clear understanding of the structure of many real-world and computer-generated networks.

Carmi et al. [13] explored Internet maps (at the AS level) by introducing and using *k*-shell decomposition methods and methods of seepage theory and fractal geometry to find models of the Internet structure. They show that their decomposition method is robust and provides insight into the infrastructure of the Internet and its functional consequences. Their approach to decomposing the network is generic and useful when studying other complex networks.

Zhang et al. [78] applied the k-core decomposition approach on the real Internet networks and discovered that the size of the k-core with a larger k was basically unchanged, as well as the observation that maximum coreness stays relatively unchanged after 2003. They randomized the data by link-exchanging operations and additionally, they methodically compared the framework of the real Internet and its random versions and found that the genuine Internet was a lot more loosely connected, in accordance with the empirical outcomes reported in Ref. [79]. They also found that the full Internet and the cores are much more disassortative than their randomized versions. The Internet is found to be steady in terms of the maximum degree, contrasted to the predictions of the majority of previous models. One of the most exact Internet model (as established by several topological criteria) is the so-called Positive Feedback Preference (PFP) model. In this model, the node's capability to obtain new links increases with the feedback loop to the degree of the node, so the optimum k increases really rapidly as the size of the network increases (faster than the BA model). As shown in Fig. 15, the maximum degree of the Internet is additionally reasonably stable relative to time (as shown in Fig. 16), suggesting that there are some unknown evolving mechanisms, rather than PFP models. Actually, a lot of previous models embedded with the preferential attachment mechanism do not recreate maximum degree stability. Even though the aging effect is a possible candidate to reproduce such stability of maximum degree [80], there is no clear evidence of the existence of an aging mechanism in the real Internet. Individual degrees of website traffic capacity limitations can result in limits for individual links. Another prospect that might influence the statistical properties is the interaction between existing nodes: new links between existing nodes can be produced, while some existing links can rewire or disappear.

Li et al. [81] proposed a social-aware *k*-core selection algorithm that can be used in the Pocket Switched Network. The social relationship of the network indicates that the social location of the mobile node can help find key nodes in the Pocket Switched Network. The *Sk*-core selection algorithm is designed to take advantage of the social capabilities of nodes to improve the performance of data communications. In addition, with social behavioral information, these key nodes are better suited to represent and improve the performance of the entire network. Nodes are mobile devices, such as mobile phones, iPads, and laptops, all of which are associated with people with certain information tags. The links are the communications between the nodes within the transmission range. This network has two kinds of interpretation: it is both a physical network and a social network. This network belongs to Pocket Switched Network [82], also known as opportunistic mobile ad hoc network [83]. In fact, human social behavior determines and affects the data exchange of the Pocket Switched Network formed on mobile devices. They demonstrate the effectiveness of the *Sk*-core selection algorithm in selecting key nodes in the Pocket Switched Network. Their article summarizes three important contributions. (1) *Sk*-core introduces a new recognition system that uses physical topologies and locations in social networks to identify mobile nodes. (2) *Sk*-core introduces a new concept, social status, for assigning weighting factors to k-degree calculations.

Time	N	Ε	С	$\langle d \rangle$	r	k^*	k _{max}	N_n
2001–12	12666	25672	0.296	3.62	-0.199	2609	15	18
2002–6	13631	27749	0.292	3.65	-0.190	2692	15	24
2002-12	14625	29057	0.257	3.70	-0.193	2591	14	40
2003–6	15740	32263	0.264	3.71	-0.199	2507	17	40
2003-12	16691	35604	0.257	3.72	-0.199	2436	21	46
2004–6	17861	39637	0.266	3.72	-0.194	2437	24	47
2004-12	19085	42175	0.273	3.74	-0.200	2424	24	54
2005–6	20349	44016	0.275	3.75	-0.202	2462	23	37
2005-12	21588	45917	0.260	3.79	-0.196	2456	23	41
2006–6	22960	48545	0.242	3.82	-0.196	2460	23	78
2006–12	24403	52826	0.242	3.82	-0.196	2467	25	76

Fig. 15. The basic topological properties of the Internet at AS level for about five years with sampling interval of six months. Here, *N* and *E* are the total number of nodes and links, *C* denotes the average clustering coefficient, $\langle d \rangle$ is the average distance, *r* is the assortative coefficient that quantifying the degree-degree correlation, and k^* denotes the maximal degree among all nodes. Note that another symbol, k_{max} is used to denote the maximal core index. N_n denotes the size of the cores, that is to say, the number of nodes in the k_{max} -core. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [78].



Fig. 16. The sizes of *k*-cores versus time. The time labels 1 to 11 correspond to December 2001 to December 2006 with six month intervals. The large open symbols denote the empirical results of the real Internet, and the filled small symbols denote the numerical results of randomized networks. *Source*: Reproduced from Ref. [78].

(3) They performed numerical simulations and evaluated the performance of the *Sk*-core selection algorithm in static, slow motion and fast motion.

Shin et al. [84] explored the universal model associated with *k*-core and appeared in several different areas of the graphs. Their findings are as follows: (1) Mirror Pattern: The coreness of the nodes is closely related to their degree. (2) Core Triangle Pattern: The degeneracy of the graph (i.e., the maximum *k* such that *k*-core exists in the graph) follows a 3-to-1 power law with respect to the number of triangles. (3) Structured Core Pattern: Degeneracy-cores are not cliques, but have non-trivial structures such as core–periphery and communities.

In social network applications, large amounts of data are structured in the form of graphs, and graphical data analysis requires a lot of computation time. In 2014, an in-memory computing framework, Spark, was introduced for big data analysis. By reloading data in memory to solve long runtime problems, Spark can complete tasks in less time than Hadoop. In November 2014, Spark broke the world record for sorting data in the benchmarking competition, and the previous record was done by Hadoop. In addition, GraphX is a Spark API (application programming interface) that provides a



Fig. 17. The experimental results by Cheng et al. [85]. (a) and (b) compare the Modularity and runtime of their method and *k*-means, on dolphon social network. (c) and (d) compare the Modularity and runtime of their method and *k*-means on Facebook social network. (e) and (f) compare the Modularity and runtime of their method and *k*-means on Gnutella social network. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [85].

graphical interface that makes graphical data analysis simple and effective. Cheng et al. [85] devised a new algorithm in GraphX on Spark. Their study proposes an improved *k*-means clustering method by integrating *k*-core decomposition. They combined *k*-core decomposition with graph-based *k*-Means, where *k*-core is used for searching the center and *k*-Means is used for finding clusters. This algorithm can further improve performance and results. The experimental results are shown in Fig. 17.

Due to the linear time complexity of *k*-core decomposition, the method can be extended to large real networks as long as the input graph is suitable for the main memory. For graph that are larger for the main memory, an external memory based approach or a distributed solution based on an iterative MapReduce platform has long been proposed. However, due to the high cost of disk Input/Output, both external storage solutions and iterative MapReduce-based solutions are slow. In addition, Mandal et al. [86] proposed Spark-*k*-core, a distributed *k*-core decomposition algorithm that runs on the Spark cluster computing platform. They use a think-like-a-node paradigm, and the proposed method uses a messaging paradigm to solve the *k*-nuclear decomposition, which greatly reduces the I/O cost. Experiments on 15 large real-life networks show that their approach is much faster than existing *k*-core decomposition solutions.

We assume that if the method proposed by Mandal is integrated into the algorithm proposed by Cheng et al. [85] that combines the *k*-core and *k*-means methods, it will have a great potential to produce a very economic and efficient algorithm, that can finish the clustering analysis and core-decomposition in a very short runtime even for millions of data. This method is particularly useful, especially in today's fast technological advancement, where commercial companies have to process massive amounts of data in real time online.



3.4. The applications in Social Networks

The *k*-core decomposition is widely accepted to reveal the network structure, as a result, many researchers have proposed a number of methods [87–91] that can identify the key nodes in the network or to measure the influence of users in online social networks.

Kitsak et al. in their paper published in 2010 [92] showed that, contrary to the popular belief, there is a paradoxical situation where the best spreaders do not correspond to the most connected or the most central nodes. Instead, one of their findings is that the most effective spreader is a spreader located within the core of the network, as determined by *k*-shell decomposition analysis. In addition, they found that an infection persists in the high *k*-shell of the network, even if the recovered individual does not produce immunity. Their analysis provides a reasonable approach to optimal design for efficient dissemination strategy.

Brown et al. [93] modified *k*-shell decomposition to assign a logarithmic *k*-shell value to the users, resulting in a user metric that is well distributed in a well-fitted bell curve, as shown in Fig. 18. In addition, they identified and removed peering relationships in the network to further differentiate users. They used two Twitter data sets, one of them was collected by KAIST in 2009 [94]. It includes 41.7 million user profiles (user data) and 1.47 billion social relationships (network data). Another data set was collected by Lehigh University, which included more than 80 million actual tweets since October 2009, representing more than 7 million users, accounting for around 17% of the total Twitter community. They modified the original algorithm by applying a logarithmic mapping, where each *k*-shell roughly corresponds to the logarithm of the node degree. While the original *k*-shell decomposition algorithm classifies nodes with *k* or fewer degree into *k*-shell, our modified algorithm will place the nodes with 2^{k-1} or fewer connections in the *k*-shell level *k*, effectively consolidating the higher *k*-shell level. This modified algorithm produces smaller but more meaningful *k*-shell values. They found that the user's position in the log *k*-shell level produces a more useful distribution. They also found that the modified algorithm has a time complexity of $O(log_2n)$ times for a given network, and is faster than the original algorithm. In this paper, the modified *k*-shell decomposition algorithm was used to measure the impact of users on the Twitter network. These measures are verified against Twitter usage data. The application of this algorithm can define an effective ranking of influence for the user, so it can be used as a baseline measure of the influence of the Twitter network.

Pei et al. [95] looked for influential spreaders by tracking the actual spreading dynamics in a large number of networks. They found that the widely used Degree and PageRank could not rank the impact of users. They continued to discover that the best communicators have been on *k*-core on different social platforms, such as Twitter, Facebook, Livejournal and the American Physical Society. In addition, they found that when the complete global network structure is not available, they find that the sum of the nearest neighbors is a better local approximation of the user's influence. Their results are shown in Fig. 19.

In 2015, through a lot of numerical simulations, Liu et al. [96] observed that not all network nodes in high k-shells are very influential: the core nodes in some networks are the most influential, they call it the "true core", but in other cases although the nodes' coreness are high, even in the innermost cores, are not good spreaders, they call them "core-like" groups. By analyzing the *k*-core structure of the network, they found that the "true core" of the network has connections with the different *k*-shell layer of the network, and the "core-like" group nodes are connected locally within the group. For nodes in core-like groups, *k*-shell indexes do not reflect their positional importance in the network. They further introduced a metric based on link diversity of the shells to effectively distinguish between "true-core" and "core-like" groups and identify "core-like" groups throughout the network. Their findings help to better understand the structural characteristics of real networks and influential nodes.



Fig. 19. The *k*-shell index predicts the average influence of spreading more reliably than in-degree and PageRank. Logarithmic values of average size of influence region $M(k_5, k_m)$ when spreading originates in nodes with (k_5, k_m) for LJ (a), APS (c), Facebook (e) and Twitter (g) are shown. The same analysis with PageRank is also presented in (b), (d), (f), (h). In general, spreading is larger for nodes of higher k_5 , whereas nodes of a given k_m or PageRank can result in either small or large spreading. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [95].

User engagement is an evaluation metric of an individual's response to some type of offering, such as a product, a service or an application on mobile phone. In social networks, the departure of key users can seriously disrupt network participation, which leads to a large number of other users exiting. The basic assumption is: all users in the community/group are initially involved, each person has two strategies to stay engaged or quit. In particular, the user will remain engaged if and only if at least k of his/her friends are involved (i.e., degree constraints). In order to identify the key users involved in social network participation, Zhang et al. [97] proposed a collapsed k-core problem based on the k-core decomposition algorithm: given a graph G, positive integer k and the cost b, their goal is to find b nodes in G so that the removal of the b nodes results in a minimum k-core. They prove that the problem is NP hard. Then, an efficient algorithm is proposed that can significantly reduce the number of candidate nodes and speed up the computation. Their



Fig. 20. Exponentially distributed (shown in (a), (b), (c)) and Pareto distributed (shown in (d), (e), (f)) contact duration, homogeneous marks distribution. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [108].

comprehensive experiments on nine real social networks demonstrate the validity and effectiveness of their proposed approach.

3.5. The applications in Information Spreading

A closely related topic with the social networks is the information spreading process. Below we introduce a few interesting works among the many [98–107]. Miorandi et al. [108] extended the k-shell decomposition method to determine the impact of nodes in a spreading epidemics in dynamic complex networks. They focused on the computation metric of local information in the network and want to design a tool for evaluating the importance of a given node at run-time. This knowledge can be used to enhance network protocol operations in mobile wireless networks or to identify online nodes that affect the proliferation process. In this work, they introduced two models for applying the k-core decomposition method to dynamic networks. The first method is based on a simple time window approach that does not consider the duration of a single link, but only their presence within a given time interval. The second extends the k-shell definition to handle the weighted graph and can be used to calculate the contact duration. They also compare the two methods by simulating spreading of epidemics over a number of synthetically generated contact traces and real-world traces, the results are shown in Fig. 20.

By studying the economic networks, Garas et al. [109] demonstrated that the *k*-shell can partition the network in a more delicate way without the need of any arbitrary threshold of the weight values. Furthermore, by simulating the diffusion process using a Susceptible Infectious Recovery (SIR)model in four different weighted real-world networks, they show that the weighted *k*-shell decomposition method places the nodes with higher diffusion potential closer to the shell of that close to the core. In addition, they applied their new approach on the real economic network and show that, from an economic point of view, the core calculated using the weighted *k*-shell approach makes more sense than the unweighted approach.

Ren et al. [110] studied with SIR model and analyze the spreading properties of the smallest *k*-core node of the network. In their SIR model, let d = 1, Tr = 2, that is, the infected class I becomes R after Tr = 2. First they assume that the smallest *k*-core node of a network is infected, and then the results were obtained by averaging the node's SIR simulation for 200 times. In contrast with Ref. [111], where the authors regarded the average propagation value of the minimum *k*-core node is considered to be small, and neglected the deviation of the infection value of the minimum *k*-core node. They showed the distribution of the infection values in the two networks with different infection rates and the standard deviation of all the minimum *k*-core nodes. However, as the infection rate increases, the gap between the minimum *k*-core nodes increases significantly, and the spread of infectivity increases. This indicates that the difference in infection capacity between the minimum *k*-core nodes increases with the infection rate, as shown in Fig. 21.

3.6. The applications in Community Detection

Since 2003 [112], *k*-core has been widely used to detect the community structure in a network [112–117]. Compared with other commonly used methods [118], *k*-core holds a significant advantage of computational simplicity.



Fig. 21. The propagation capacity of the smallest *k*-core node. (a), (b) show the propagation (influence) value and standard deviation of the smallest *k*-core node of the PGP network versus the corresponding ranking; (c), (d) show the corresponding result on the AS network. *Source*: Reproduced from Ref. [110].

In 2011, Giatsidis et al. [119] used the *k*-core concept as a method of assessing the nature of community collaboration. This property cannot be described by single-node indicators or existing community assessment indicators. They considered that *k*-core describes the robustness of the community under the degeneracy, so they reasonably extended the *k*-core concept, on the graph with link weights. They added weights to their data, which represents the degree of collaboration between the two connection points. Based on this weighted graph, they also performed an extended experimental evaluation under the Digital Bibliography & Library Project (DBLP) co-authorship graph and found some interesting phenomena, which involve the coauthorship of some famous scientists.

Peng et al. [120] proposed a framework for inferring communities by applying expensive algorithms (modular optimization, Louvain methods, spectral clustering, etc.) to *k*-core, and then using inexpensive heuristics (such as local modularity maximization) to detect the community tags of the remaining nodes. Their experiments show that the proposed framework can reduce runtime by more than 80% while maintaining the quality of the results (see Fig. 22) Recent theoretical studies have supported the use of *k*-core as a simplified representation. Their algorithm begins with a standard *k*-core decomposition, followed by a community detection algorithm, as shown in Fig. 23.

Li et al. [121] introduced a new community searching method called the *k*-influential community, that captures the impact of the community based on the concept of *k*-core. Based on the new community model, they proposed a linear time online search algorithm to find the top-impact communities in the network. They assigned a weight to each node of the network, to denote the influence of the node. The influential value of a community is defined as the minimum weight of the nodes in the community and a community is recognized as an influential community when it has a large influence. They marked an influential community with a parameter *k* for the *k*-affected communities can be obtained by iteratively deleting the smallest weight node of the largest *k*-core. To further accelerate the influential community search algorithms, they designed a linear-space index structure to support efficient search of top-level *k*-influential community in optimal time. They also proposed an effective algorithm to maintain indexes when the network is frequently updated. They conducted a large number of experiments on seven large real-world networks, and the results proved the efficiency and effectiveness of the proposed method.

Meyer et al. [122] established a software network in which software classes are nodes in the network, dependencies are links, and *k*-core decomposition is applied to identify core subsets of nodes as potentially important classes. They studied three open source Java projects that lasted for 10 years and used different indicators to prove that the *k*-core decomposition of the network can help us identify the key classes of the corresponding software, the results are shown in Fig. 24. Specifically, they show that the nodes with the highest coreness represent important classes and that the core-number of classes with similar functions develops under similar trends.



(a) Reduction to 4-core removes spurious edges and nodes

(b) Sample results

Fig. 22. Effectiveness of *k*-core subgraph community detection. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [120].

Algorithm 3 Algorithm to Find the Community Structure of the Whole Graph

- 1: input Graph G, Labels g_K
- 2: **output** Labels g
- 3: $s \leftarrow$ set of unlabeled nodes, roughly sorted in descending order according to the proportion of their neighbors inside the *K*-core
- 4: repeat
- 5: for all nodes $i \in s$ do
- 6: $g(i) \leftarrow \text{plurality vote of labeled neighbors of } i$
- 7: Remove i from s
- 8: end for
- 9: until no more nodes can be labeled
- 10: $g \leftarrow \text{SecondStageAlgorithm}(A, g)$
- 11: return g

Fig. 23. The description of the community detection algorithm from Peng et al.. *Source:* Reproduced from [120].

3.7. The applications in other interdisciplinary fields

Despite the traditional applications of the *k*-core, scientists from a wide range of background slowly adopt the algorithm in their disciplines, such as the text analyzing [123,124], airline networks [125], power grid [126], and even the criminal networks [127]. In the following, we show some exemplary applications.

Garas et al. [128] in 2010, simulated the spreading of the crisis by building a global economic network and applying a susceptible infection recovery (SIR) epidemic model with variable infection probability. The probability of infection depends on the strength of the economic relationship between a particular country and the strength of the target country. It is expected that crises originating in major countries such as the United States may spread globally, such as the global crisis in 2008. Surprisingly, they have also shown that countries with much lower Gross Domestic Products (GDP) such as Belgium can trigger a global crisis. Using the *k*-shell decomposition method to quantify the (node's) diffusion capabilities,



Fig. 24. Values of Average Class Seniority (Y-Axis) versus Maximum *k*-core (X-Axis) for each release of the three software. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [122].



Fig. 25. *m*-cores decomposition and its visualization. The example network in (a) is colored according to the *m*-coreness of nodes and links. Nodes and links colored in blue belong to the *m*0-core but not to the *m*1-core. Nodes and links colored in green belong to the *m*1-core but not to the *m*2-core, etc. The same structure is represented in (b) with the visualization tool described in the main text. The outermost circle in blue represents the *m*0-core, with nodes of *m*-coreness 0 located in its perimeter. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [129].

they obtained a "centrality" metric as a disperser for each country in the economic network. Therefore, they rank different countries according to the shell they belong to and find the 12 core countries. These countries are most likely to spread the crisis on a global scale. Of the 12 countries, only 6 are large economies, while the other 6 are small and medium-sized economies, and this result is unexpected. In addition, they used their model to predict the crisis spreading capability of countries belonging to different shells based on the level of crisis.

Simon et al. [129] revealed the global organization of clusters in real complex networks by exploring *m*-core (shown in Fig. 25), where *m*-core is defined as the largest subgraph with links join at least *m* triangles, similar to *k*-core. This property defines a set of nested subgraphs that, in contrast to *k*-core, distinguish between a hierarchical and modular structure. They found that clustering organizations in real networks are neither completely random nor ordered (see Fig. 26), although surprisingly, it is more random than modular. They believed that the structure of a real network may actually be the result of a self-organizing process based on local optimization rules compared to the global optimization principle. When *m*-cores are not split into smaller components, the network shows a strong hierarchical structure, while if *m*-core is always fragmented, the network can be constructed from a highly modular architecture.

Rousseau et al. [123] applied the concept of *k*-core to the text word representation of single-document keyword extraction, leaving only the nodes in the main core as representative terms. By choosing a more densely connected subset of nodes, the method better considers the proximity between keywords and the variability of the number of extracted keywords, as compared to existing graph-based methods based only on centrality. Experiments with two standard data sets showed a statistically significant improvement in the AUC of the F1 score and the precision/recall curve compared to the baseline results, as shown in Fig. 27.



Fig. 26. Measuring hierarchies in real and random networks. Comparison of the *k*-core and *m*-core decompositions between the real Internet AS network, the clique based model, and maximally random models. "Random c(k)" stands for the maximally random model with a fixed degree distribution and clustering spectrum c(k). "Random c(k), P(k, k')" stands for the maximally random model that preserves also the degree-degree correlation structure of the real network. The top left plot shows the relative size of the giant *k*-core as a function of *k*. Top right plot shows the complementary cumulative distribution of link multiplicities. Bottom left plot shows the relative size of the giant *m*-core as a function of *m*. Finally, the bottom right plot shows the number of components in the *m*-core as a function of *m*. Source: Reproduced from Ref. [129].

Craph	Dataset	Macro-averaged precision (%)			Macro-averaged recall (%)				Macro-averaged F1-score (%)				
Graph		PageRank	HITS	K-core	WK-core	PageRank	HITS	K-core	WK-core	PageRank	HITS	K-core	WK-core
undirected	Hulth2003	58.94	57.86	46.52	61.24^{*}	42.19	41.80	62.51^{*}	50.32*	47.32	46.62	49.06*	51.92^{*}
edges	Krapi2009	50.23	49.47	40.46	53.47^{*}	48.78	47.85	78.36*	50.21	49.59	47.96	46.61	50.77^{*}
forward	Hulth2003	55.80	54.75	42.45	56.99*	41.98	40.43	72.87^{*}	46.93*	45.70	45.03	51.65^{*}	50.59^{*}
edges	Krapi2009	47.78	47.03	39.82	52.19^{*}	44.91	44.19	79.06^{*}	45.67	45.72	44.95	46.03	47.01^{*}
backward	Hulth2003	59.27	56.41	40.89	60.24^{*}	42.67	40.66	70.57*	49.91*	47.57	45.37	45.20	50.03*
edges	Krapi2009	51.43	49.11	39.17	52.14^{*}	49.96	47.00	77.60*	50.16	50.51	47.38	46.93	50.42

Fig. 27. Macro-averaged precision, recall and F1-score for PageRank, HITS, *k*-core and Weighted *k*-core (WK-core). Bold font marks the best performance in a block of a row. * indicates statistical significance at p < 0.05. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [123].

He et al. [130] first constructed a seismic network based on space-time influence domain, and used *k*-core decomposition to visualize the topology to determine the structure and center of the seismic network. Here we introduce how they construct the earthquake network based on their data. They first followed the Abe and Suzuki's method [131], dividing the geographical area under consideration into small cells, as the coarse-grained network. If any earthquake occurs in it, the cell is considered a node. They assumed that seismic waves propagate in a homogeneous medium, so the speed of seismic attenuation is uniform. In addition, the time and space impact range of each earthquake is limited. J.K. Gardner et al. [132] found two reasonable approximation formulas to describe the radius of influence and impact time for a given magnitude as follows:

$$\log_{10} L = a_1 M + b_1 \tag{27}$$

$$\log_{10} T = a_2 M + b_2 \tag{28}$$

where *L* is the influence radius and *T* is the influence time for a given magnitude *M*. In addition, *a*1, *b*1, *a*2 and *b*2 are constants. When a seismic event *i* occurs, for any event *j* occurring after *i*, the time interval Δt and the distance Δt



Fig. 28. The process of the *k*-core decomposition of the network in California between the years 1992 and 2002. The nodes in the same color have the same degree, while their size is corresponding to their degree, as shown by the scale going from the minimal to the maximal degree. (a) 1-core. (b) 4-core. (c) 6-core. (d) 8-core. (e) 12-core. (f) 22-core. A great shock has occurred in the region where all the nodes with the highest coreness located.

Source: Reproduced from Ref. [130].

between them can be expressed as:

$$\Delta t = t_j - t_i \tag{29}$$

$$\Delta d = 2R\sin^{-1}\left(\sqrt{\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi (x_i - x_j)}{360}\right) + \cos\left(\frac{\pi x_i}{180}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\pi x_j}{180}\right)\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi (y_i - y_j)}{360}\right)}\right)$$
(30)

where t_i , t_j are the occurring time of events i and j, respectively. They happen with epicenters (x_i, y_i) and (x_j, y_j) , where x_i , y_i are the values of latitude and longitude of event *i* and x_j , y_j are that of event *j*. The earth radius is represented by *R*. π is a real number constant. If Δt and Δd can satisfy the following constraints:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta t \leq T_i \\ \Delta d \leq L_i \end{cases}$$

then they establish a link from the node of event *i* to the node of event *j*. By applying the *k*-core decomposition, they found that the highest core with high clustering characteristics is often located in areas that can directly or indirectly cause significant shocks (Fig. 28). By comparing the energy distribution of each shell, they found that the highest core energy ratio is high, especially before a major impact. They verified that the seismic network constructed by their method is hierarchical and decomposed the topological structure into different layers. Then they observed the evolution of the largest core in different networks and found that it suddenly jumped up at the moment of major shocks and then gradually declined, as shown in Fig. 29.

4. Summary

In recent years, the complex networks are found to be particularly useful to model the real-world systems [133–136]. To understand the characteristics of the systems that we desire to know, many algorithms have been developed by researchers with different backgrounds. One of the most important algorithms is k-core pruning process, also called k-core decomposition. It serves as a commonly used algorithm and has been widely used in many research areas like detecting



Fig. 29. Part of the network topologies with geographic coordinates generated from the data (a)–1: 3 months before the Landers earthquake in 1992, (a)–2: 3 months after the Landers earthquake in 1992, (b)–1: three months before the Northridge earthquake in 1994, (b)–2: 3 months after the Northridge earthquake in 1994, (c)–1: 3 months before the Guadalupe Victoria earthquake in 2010, (c)–2: 3 months after the Guadalupe Victoria earthquake in 2010. The red dots, blue dots and green dots represent the major shocks, the highest core and the other nodes, respectively. *Source:* Reproduced from Ref. [130].

community structure, eliminating noises, identifying the center of a network, unveiling unseen information, recognizing the influential spreaders in the network, and other various topics.

In the meantime, scientist observed the evidence of critical phenomena in the *k*-core pruning process. Continuous efforts in solving the analytical solution of the critical behavior have been done by mathematicians and physicists over the years. Until recently, the exact analytical results were finally obtained. *k*-core pruning process has now become one of the exactly solvable problems, and the analytical solution shows us the detailed critical behavior in the pruning process.

Despite the existing literature review on *k*-core that focus on computer sciences applications [137], here for the first time we systematically summarize the theoretical advances on solving the *k*-core problem. Also in this review, we cover several applications in a broader range of subjects, such as biology, ecology, economics, earthquakes and so on.

The functionality of a network is closely related to its structure. k-core, as a way to reveal the global network structure and nodes' local structure, can naturally play a significant role in studying the functionality of the network. To our knowledge, in the past decades, the applications of k-core in various fields have centered on the following typical usages. The first one is to locate the central nodes or to find valuable information in the network. This usage is particularly effective in studying information spreading, social network analysis, and analyzing interactions. Second, in many large networks that need to process large amounts of data, k-core can be used as a way to remove noise and reduce dimensionality. The basic idea of this application is based on the assumption that nodes, links, information, etc. at the periphery of the network are not essential. In reality, the assumption usually stands, so the application of k-core as a dimension reduction and denoising tool is reasonable. In addition to this, k-core has a very low computational complexity, so it can be easily applied to big data processing problems, which is a huge advantage that many other dimensionality reduction methods cannot match. The third application direction focuses on visualization. Due to the combination of the first two applications, k-core can easily and quickly extract the backbone in the network, providing an excellent research tool in the direction of visual research. Besides, k-core decomposition, as an algorithm with rich phase transition characteristics, is of considerable significance to understand the macroscopic network structure. In recent years, some novel research has also focused on this direction. Overall, in this review we briefly survey over the recent progresses on k-core and we hope this review can help the researchers from different backgrounds to gain new ideas and insights from the perspective of network sciences.

Acknowledgment

We thank Prof. Jianyang Zhao and Prof. Bolun Chen for helpful discussions. This work is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant No. 200020_182498).

References

- Alain Barrat, Marc Barthelemy, Romualdo Pastor-Satorras, Alessandro Vespignani, The architecture of complex weighted networks, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 101 (11) (2004) 3747–3752.
- [2] Wen-Xu Wang, Guanrong Chen, Universal robustness characteristic of weighted networks against cascading failure, Phys. Rev. E 77 (2) (2008) 026101.

- [3] Abhijin Adiga, Anil Kumar S. Vullikanti, How robust is the core of a network? in: Joint European Conference on Machine Learning and Knowledge Discovery in Databases, Springer, 2013, pp. 541–556.
- [4] Marius Eidsaa, Eivind Almaas, S-core network decomposition: A generalization of k-core analysis to weighted networks, Phys. Rev. E 88 (6) (2013) 062819.
- [5] M Puck Rombach, Mason A Porter, James H Fowler, Peter J Mucha, Core-periphery structure in networks, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 74 (1) (2014) 167–190.
- [6] Trivik Verma, F Russmann, Nuno AM Araújo, Jan Nagler, Hans J Herrmann, Emergence of core-peripheries in networks, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 10441.
- [7] Marius Eidsaa, Core decomposition analysis of weighted biological networks, 2016.
- [8] Elena Valari, Maria Kontaki, Apostolos N. Papadopoulos, Discovery of top-k dense subgraphs in dynamic graph collections, in: International Conference on Scientific and Statistical Database Management, Springer, 2012, pp. 213–230.
- [9] Vladimir Batagelj, Matjaz Zaversnik, An O (m) algorithm for cores decomposition of networks, 2003, arXiv preprint arXiv:cs/0310049.
- [10] Paul Erdős, András Hajnal, On chromatic number of graphs and set-systems, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 17 (1-2) (1966) 61-99.
- [11] Don R. Lick, Arthur T. White, k-degenerate graphs, Canad. J. Math. 22 (5) (1970) 1082-1096.
- [12] Stephen B. Seidman, Network structure and minimum degree, Soc. Netw. 5 (3) (1983) 269–287.
- [13] Shai Carmi, Shlomo Havlin, Scott Kirkpatrick, Yuval Shavitt, Eran Shir, A model of internet topology using k-shell decomposition, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104 (27) (2007) 11150-11154.
- [14] Jun Zhang, Hai Zhao, Yan Zhou, The study on characteristics of the coreness of router-level internet nodes, in: 2008 Chinese Control and Decision Conference, IEEE, 2008, pp. 4803–4808.
- [15] Tomasz Łuczak, Size and connectivity of the k-core of a random graph, Discrete Math. 91 (1) (1991) 61-68.
- [16] Boris Pittel, Joel Spencer, Nicholas Wormald, Sudden emergence of a giantk-core in a random graph, J. Combin. Theory Ser. B 67 (1) (1996) 111–151.
- [17] Daniel Fernholz, Vijaya Ramachandran, The giant-core of a random graph with a specified degree sequence, 2003.
- [18] Jennifer M. Schwarz, Andrea J. Liu, L.Q. Chayes, The onset of jamming as the sudden emergence of an infinite k-core cluster, Europhys. Lett. 73 (4) (2006) 560.
- [19] Sergey N Dorogovtsev, Alexander V Goltsev, Jose Ferreira F Mendes, K-core organization of complex networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (4) (2006) 040601.
- [20] GJ Baxter, SN Dorogovtsev, K-E Lee, JFF Mendes, AV Goltsev, Critical dynamics of the k-core pruning process, Phys. Rev. X 5 (3) (2015) 031017.
- [21] N. Azimi-Tafreshi, J. Gómez-Gardenes, S.N. Dorogovtsev, k-core percolation on multiplex networks, Phys. Rev. E 90 (3) (2014) 032816.
- [22] S.N. Dorogovtsev, A.V. Goltsev, J.F.F. Mendes, k-core architecture and k-core percolation on complex networks, Physica D 224 (1-2) (2006) 7-19.
- [23] Oliver Riordan, The k-core and branching processes, Combin. Probab. Comput. 17 (1) (2008) 111–136.
- [24] Gui-Yuan Shi, Rui-Jie Wu, Yi-Xiu Kong, H Eugene Stanley, Yi-Cheng Zhang, Analytical result of criticality in the k-core pruning process, 2018, arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.08936.
- [25] Rui-jie Wu, Yi-Xiu Kong, Gui-yuan Shi, Yi-Cheng Zhang, Using nonbacktracking expansion to analyze k-core pruning process, 2018, arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.04295.
- [26] Alberto Montresor, Francesco De Pellegrini, Daniele Miorandi, Distributed k-core decomposition, IEEE Trans. Parallel Distrib. Syst. 24 (2) (2012) 288–300.
- [27] Mark Newman, Networks, Oxford University Press, 2018.
- [28] Paul Erdos, Alfréd Rényi, On the evolution of random graphs, Publ. Math. Inst. Hung. Acad. Sci 5 (1) (1960) 17–60.
- [29] Albert-László Barabási, Réka Albert, Emergence of scaling in random networks, Science 286 (5439) (1999) 509-512.
- [30] Mark E.J. Newman, Assortative mixing in networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (20) (2002) 208701.
- [31] Yair Weiss, William T. Freeman, On the optimality of solutions of the max-product belief-propagation algorithm in arbitrary graphs, IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory 47 (2) (2001) 736–744.
- [32] Gábor Timár, Rui A da Costa, Sergey N Dorogovtsev, José FF Mendes, Nonbacktracking expansion of finite graphs, Phys. Rev. E 95 (4) (2017) 042322.
- [33] Rui-jie Wu, Yi-Xiu Kong, Gui-Yuan Shi, Yi-Cheng Zhang, Analytical results of k-core pruning process on multi-layer networks, 2018, arXiv preprint arXiv:1812.11111.
- [34] Davide Cellai, Aonghus Lawlor, Kenneth A Dawson, James P Gleeson, Critical phenomena in heterogeneous k-core percolation, Phys. Rev. E 87 (2) (2013) 022134.
- [35] Laurent Hébert-Dufresne, Antoine Allard, Jean-Gabriel Young, Louis J Dubé, Percolation on random networks with arbitrary k-core structure, Phys. Rev. E 88 (6) (2013) 062820.
- [36] Gareth J Baxter, Sergey N Dorogovtsev, Alexander V Goltsev, José FF Mendes, Heterogeneous k-core versus bootstrap percolation on complex networks, Phys. Rev. E 83 (5) (2011) 051134.
- [37] Sergey N Dorogovtsev, Alexander V Goltsev, José FF Mendes, Critical phenomena in complex networks, Rev. Modern Phys. 80 (4) (2008) 1275.
 [38] Md Altaf-Ul-Amine, Kensaku Nishikata, Toshihiro Korna, Teppei Miyasato, Yoko Shinbo, Md Arifuzzaman, Chieko Wada, Maki Maeda, Taku Oshima, Hirotada Mori, et al., Prediction of protein functions based on k-cores of protein-protein interaction networks and amino acid sequences, Genome Inform. 14 (2003) 498–499.
- [39] Stefan Wuchty, Eivind Almaas, Peeling the yeast protein network, Proteomics 5 (2) (2005) 444-449.
- [40] Feng Luo, Bo Li, Xiu-Feng Wan, Richard H. Scheuermann, Core and periphery structures in protein interaction networks, in: BMC Bioinformatics, Vol. 10, (4) BioMed Central, 2009, p. S8.
- [41] David J Schwab, Robijn F Bruinsma, Jack L Feldman, Alex J Levine, Rhythmogenic neuronal networks, emergent leaders, and k-cores, Phys. Rev. E 82 (5) (2010) 051911.
- [42] Martijn P. Van Den Heuvel, Olaf Sporns, Rich-club organization of the human connectome, J. Neurosci. 31 (44) (2011) 15775–15786.
- [43] Mikail Rubinov, Olaf Sporns, Complex network measures of brain connectivity: uses and interpretations, Neuroimage 52 (3) (2010) 1059–1069.
 [44] Murray Shanahan, Verner P Bingman, Toru Shimizu, Martin Wild, Onur Güntürkün, Large-scale network organization in the avian forebrain: a connectivity matrix and theoretical analysis, Front. Comput. Neurosci. 7 (2013) 89.
- [45] Arnold I Emerson, Simeon Andrews, Ikhlak Ahmed, Thasni KA Azis, Joel A Malek, K-core decomposition of a protein domain co-occurrence network reveals lower cancer mutation rates for interior cores, J. Clin. Bioinform. 5 (1) (2015) 1.
- [46] Michał Bola, Bernhard A. Sabel, Dynamic reorganization of brain functional networks during cognition, Neuroimage 114 (2015) 398-413.

- [47] Nir Lahav, Baruch Ksherim, Eti Ben-Simon, Adi Maron-Katz, Reuven Cohen, Shlomo Havlin, K-shell decomposition reveals hierarchical cortical organization of the human brain, New J. Phys. 18 (8) (2016) 083013.
- [48] Lazaros K. Gallos, Hernán A. Makse, Mariano Sigman, A small world of weak ties provides optimal global integration of self-similar modules in functional brain networks, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109 (8) (2012) 2825–2830.
- [49] David Samu, Anil K. Seth, Thomas Nowotny, Influence of wiring cost on the large-scale architecture of human cortical connectivity, PLoS Comput. Biol. 10 (4) (2014) e1003557.
- [50] Arnold Emerson Isaac, Sitabhra Sinha, Analysis of core-periphery organization in protein contact networks reveals groups of structurally and functionally critical residues, J. Biosci. 40 (4) (2015) 683–699.
- [51] Cynthia I. Wood, Illya V. Hicks, The minimal k-core problem for modeling k-assemblies, J. Math. Neurosci. (JMN) 5 (1) (2015) 14.
- [52] Marco Pellegrini, Miriam Baglioni, Filippo Geraci, Protein complex prediction for large protein protein interaction networks with the Core&Peel method, BMC Bioinformatics 17 (12) (2016) 372.
- [53] Shi-Min Cai, Wei Chen, Dong-Bai Liu, Ming Tang, Xun Chen, Complex network analysis of brain functional connectivity under a multi-step cognitive task, Physica A 466 (2017) 663–671.
- [54] Javier Garcia-Algarra, Juan Manuel Manuel Pastor, Mary Luz Mouronte, Javier Galeano, BipartGraph: An interactive application to plot bipartite ecological networks, BioRxiv (2017) 192013.
- [55] Javier García-Algarra, Juan Manuel Pastor, José María Iriondo, Javier Galeano, Ranking of critical species to preserve the functionality of mutualistic networks using the k-core decomposition, PeerJ 5 (2017) e3321.
- [56] Javier Garcia-Algarra, Juan Manuel Pastor, Mary Luz Mouronte, Javier Galeano, A structural approach to disentangle the visualization of bipartite biological networks, Complexity 2018 (2018).
- [57] Jane Memmott, Nickolas M. Waser, Mary V. Price, Tolerance of pollination networks to species extinctions, Proc. R. Soc. B 271 (1557) (2004) 2605–2611.
- [58] A. Humberto Filho, Jeaneth Machicao, Odemir M. Bruno, A hierarchical model of metabolic machinery based on the kcore decomposition of plant metabolic networks, PLoS One 13 (5) (2018) e0195843.
- [59] Flaviano Morone, Gino Del Ferraro, Hernán A. Makse, The k-core as a predictor of structural collapse in mutualistic ecosystems, Nat. Phys. 15 (1) (2019) 95.
- [60] Ravi Kumar, Prabhakar Raghavan, Sridhar Rajagopalan, Dandapani Sivakumar, Andrew Tompkins, Eli Upfal, The web as a graph, in: Proceedings of the Nineteenth ACM SIGMOD-SIGACT-SIGART Symposium on Principles of Database Systems, ACM, 2000, pp. 1–10.
- [61] John Healy, Jeannette Janssen, Evangelos Milios, William Aiello, Characterization of graphs using degree cores, in: International Workshop on Algorithms and Models for the Web-Graph, Springer, 2006, pp. 137–148.
- [62] Sude Qing, Jianxin Liao, Jingyu Wang, Xiaomin Zhu, Qi Qi, Hybrid virtual network embedding with K-core decomposition and time-oriented priority, in: 2012 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), IEEE, 2012, pp. 2695–2699.
- [63] Fragkiskos D. Malliaros, Michalis Vazirgiannis, To stay or not to stay: modeling engagement dynamics in social graphs, in: Proceedings of the 22nd ACM International Conference on Information & Knowledge Management, ACM, 2013, pp. 469–478.
- [64] Giannis Nikolentzos, Polykarpos Meladianos, Stratis Limnios, Michalis Vazirgiannis, A degeneracy framework for graph similarity, in: IJCAI, 2018, pp. 2595–2601.
- [65] Kijung Shin, Tina Eliassi-Rad, Christos Faloutsos, Patterns and anomalies in k-cores of real-world graphs with applications, Knowl. Inf. Syst. 54 (3) (2018) 677–710.
- [66] Humayun Kabir, Kamesh Madduri, Parallel k-core decomposition on multicore platforms, in: 2017 IEEE International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium Workshops (IPDPSW), IEEE, 2017, pp. 1482–1491.
- [67] Fan Zhang, Ying Zhang, Lu Qin, Wenjie Zhang, Xuemin Lin, When engagement meets similarity: efficient (k, r)-core computation on social networks, Proc. VLDB Endow. 10 (10) (2017) 998–1009.
- [68] Weifeng Pan, Bing Li, Jing Liu, Yutao Ma, Bo Hu, Analyzing the structure of java software systems by weighted K-core decomposition, Future Gener. Comput. Syst. 83 (2018) 431–444.
- [69] You Peng, Ying Zhang, Wenjie Zhang, Xuemin Lin, Lu Qin, Efficient probabilistic k-core computation on uncertain graphs, in: 2018 IEEE 34th International Conference on Data Engineering (ICDE), IEEE, 2018, pp. 1192–1203.
- [70] Yan-Li Lee, Tao Zhou, Fast asynchronous updating algorithms for k-shell indices, Physica A 482 (2017) 524-531.
- [71] Jure Leskovec, Jon Kleinberg, Christos Faloutsos, Graph evolution: Densification and shrinking diameters, ACM Trans. Knowl. Discov. Data (TKDD) 1 (1) (2007) 2.
- [72] Marco Gaertler, Maurizio Patrignani, Dynamic analysis of the autonomous system graph, in: IPS 2004, International Workshop on Inter-Domain Performance and Simulation, Budapest, Hungary, 2004, pp. 13–24.
- [73] Ramesh Govindan, Anoop Reddy, An analysis of internet inter-domain topology and route stability, in: Proceedings of INFOCOM'97, Vol. 2, IEEE, 1997, pp. 850–857.
- [74] Lixin Gao, On inferring autonomous system relationships in the internet, IEEE/ACM Trans. Netw. (ToN) 9 (6) (2001) 733-745.
- [75] Georgos Siganos, Michalis Faloutsos, Petros Faloutsos, Christos Faloutsos, Power laws and the AS-level internet topology, IEEE/ACM Trans. Netw. 11 (4) (2003) 514–524.
- [76] Ignacio Alvarez-Hamelin, Luca Dall'Asta, Alain Barrat, Alessandro Vespignani, K-core decomposition: a tool for the analysis of large scale internet graphs, 2005, arXiv preprint arXiv:cs.NI/0511007.
- [77] J Ignacio Alvarez-Hamelin, Luca Dall'Asta, Alain Barrat, Alessandro Vespignani, Large scale networks fingerprinting and visualization using the k-core decomposition, in: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 2006, pp. 41–50.
- [78] Guo-Qing Zhang, Guo-Qiang Zhang, Qing-Feng Yang, Su-Qi Cheng, Tao Zhou, Evolution of the Internet and its cores, New J. Phys. 10 (12) (2008) 123027.
- [79] Vittoria Colizza, Alessandro Flammini, M Angeles Serrano, Alessandro Vespignani, Detecting rich-club ordering in complex networks, Nat. Phys. 2 (2) (2006) 110.
- [80] Sergey N. Dorogovtsev, José Fernando F. Mendes, Effect of the accelerating growth of communications networks on their structure, Phys. Rev. E 63 (2) (2001) 025101.
- [81] Ming Li, Longxiang Gao, Wanlei Zhou, S-kcore: a social-aware kcore decomposition algorithm in pocket switched networks, in: 2010 IEEE/IFIP International Conference on Embedded and Ubiquitous Computing, IEEE, 2010, pp. 737–742.
- [82] Pan Hui, Jérémie Leguay, Jon Crowcroft, James Scott, Timur Friedman, Vania Conan, Osmosis in pocket switched networks, in: 2006 First International Conference on Communications and Networking in China, IEEE, 2006, pp. 1–6.

- [83] Kevin Fall, A delay-tolerant network architecture for challenged internets, in: Proceedings of the 2003 Conference on Applications, Technologies, Architectures, and Protocols for Computer Communications, ACM, 2003, pp. 27–34.
- [84] Kijung Shin, Tina Eliassi-Rad, Christos Faloutsos, Corescope: graph mining using k-core analysis patterns, anomalies and algorithms, in: 2016 IEEE 16th International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM), IEEE, 2016, pp. 469–478.
- [85] Sheng-Tzong Cheng, Yin-Chun Chen, Meng-Shuan Tsai, Using k-core decomposition to find cluster centers for k-means algorithm in graphx on spark, in: Cloud Computing 2017, 2017, p. 103.
- [86] Aritra Mandal, Mohammad Al Hasan, A distributed k-core decomposition algorithm on spark, in: 2017 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), IEEE, 2017, pp. 976–981.
- [87] Marián Boguná, Romualdo Pastor-Satorras, Albert Díaz-Guilera, Alex Arenas, Models of social networks based on social distance attachment, Phys. Rev. E 70 (5) (2004) 056122.
- [88] Meeyoung Cha, Hamed Haddadi, Fabricio Benevenuto, Krishna P Gummadi, Measuring user influence in twitter: The million follower fallacy, in: Fourth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, 2010.
- [89] Claudio Castellano, Romualdo Pastor-Satorras, Thresholds for epidemic spreading in networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (21) (2010) 218701.
- [90] Bruno Gonçalves, Nicola Perra, Alessandro Vespignani, Modeling users' activity on twitter networks: Validation of dunbar's number, PLoS One 6 (8) (2011) e22656.
- [91] Mohammed Ali Al-garadi, Kasturi Dewi Varathan, Sri Devi Ravana, Identification of influential spreaders in online social networks using interaction weighted K-core decomposition method, Physica A 468 (2017) 278–288.
- [92] Maksim Kitsak, Lazaros K Gallos, Shlomo Havlin, Fredrik Liljeros, Lev Muchnik, H Eugene Stanley, Hernán A Makse, Identification of influential spreaders in complex networks, Nat. Phys. 6 (11) (2010) 888.
- [93] Phil E. Brown, Junlan Feng, Measuring user influence on twitter using modified k-shell decomposition, in: Fifth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, 2011.
- [94] Haewoon Kwak, Changhyun Lee, Hosung Park, Sue Moon, What is twitter, a social network or a news media? in: Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on World Wide Web, AcM, 2010, pp. 591–600.
- [95] Sen Pei, Lev Muchnik, José S Andrade Jr, Zhiming Zheng, Hernán A Makse, Searching for superspreaders of information in real-world social media, Sci. Rep. 4 (2014) 5547.
- [96] Ying Liu, Ming Tang, Tao Zhou, Younghae Do, Core-like groups result in invalidation of identifying super-spreader by k-shell decomposition, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 9602.
- [97] Fan Zhang, Ying Zhang, Lu Qin, Wenjie Zhang, Xuemin Lin, Finding critical users for social network engagement: The collapsed k-core problem, in: Thirty-First AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 2017.
- [98] Jiang Yang, Scott Counts, Predicting the speed, scale, and range of information diffusion in twitter, in: Fourth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, 2010.
- [99] Sandra González-Bailón, Javier Borge-Holthoefer, Alejandro Rivero, Yamir Moreno, The dynamics of protest recruitment through an online network, Sci. Rep. 1 (2011) 197.
- [100] Javier Borge-Holthoefer, Yamir Moreno, Absence of influential spreaders in rumor dynamics, Phys. Rev. E 85 (2) (2012) 026116.
- [101] Claudio Castellano, Romualdo Pastor-Satorras, Competing activation mechanisms in epidemics on networks, Sci. Rep. 2 (2012) 371.
- [102] Fabio Della Rossa, Fabio Dercole, Carlo Piccardi, Profiling core-periphery network structure by random walkers, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013) 1467.
- [103] Sen Pei, Hernán A. Makse, Spreading dynamics in complex networks, J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp. 2013 (12) (2013) P12002.
- [104] Fan Yang, Ruisheng Zhang, Zhao Yang, Rongjing Hu, Mengtian Li, Yongna Yuan, Keqin Li, Identifying the most influential spreaders in complex networks by an Extended Local K-Shell Sum, Internat. J. Modern Phys. C 28 (01) (2017) 1750014.
- [105] Romualdo Pastor-Satorras, Claudio Castellano, Piet Van Mieghem, Alessandro Vespignani, Epidemic processes in complex networks, Rev. Modern Phys. 87 (3) (2015) 925.
- [106] Joonhyun Bae, Sangwook Kim, Identifying and ranking influential spreaders in complex networks by neighborhood coreness, Physica A 395 (2014) 549–559.
- [107] Zhuo-Ming Ren, An Zeng, Duan-Bing Chen, Hao Liao, Jian-Guo Liu, Iterative resource allocation for ranking spreaders in complex networks, Europhys. Lett. 106 (4) (2014) 48005.
- [108] Daniele Miorandi, Francesco De Pellegrini, K-shell decomposition for dynamic complex networks, in: 8th International Symposium on Modeling and Optimization in Mobile, Ad Hoc, and Wireless Networks, IEEE, 2010, pp. 488–496.
- [109] Antonios Garas, Frank Schweitzer, Shlomo Havlin, A k-shell decomposition method for weighted networks, New J. Phys. 14 (8) (2012) 083030.
- [110] Zhuo-Ming Ren, Jian-Guo Liu, Feng Shao, Zhao-Long Hu, Qiang Guo, Analysis of the spreading influence of the nodes with minimum K-shell value in complex networks, 2013.
- [111] Xi Xiong, Yong Hu, Research on the dynamics of opinion spread based on social network services, 2012.
- [112] Roger Guimera, Leon Danon, Albert Diaz-Guilera, Francesc Giralt, Alex Arenas, Self-similar community structure in a network of human interactions, Phys. Rev. E 68 (6) (2003) 065103.
- [113] Tiago P. Peixoto, Stefan Bornholdt, Evolution of robust network topologies: Emergence of central backbones, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (11) (2012) 118703.
- [114] Christos Giatsidis, Fragkiskos Malliaros, Dimitrios Thilikos, Michalis Vazirgiannis, Corecluster: A degeneracy based graph clustering framework, in: Twenty-Eighth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 2014.
- [115] Bernat Corominas-Murtra, Benedikt Fuchs, Stefan Thurner, Detection of the elite structure in a virtual multiplex social system by means of a generalised K-core, PLoS One 9 (12) (2014) e112606.
- [116] Esra Akbas, Peixiang Zhao, Truss-based community search: a truss-equivalence based indexing approach, Proc. VLDB Endow. 10 (11) (2017) 1298–1309.
- [117] Kai Gong, Li Kang, A new k-shell decomposition method for identifying influential spreaders of epidemics on community networks, J. Syst. Sci. Inf. 6 (4) (2018) 366–375.
- [118] Santo Fortunato, Community detection in graphs, Phys. Rep. 486 (3-5) (2010) 75-174.
- [119] Christos Giatsidis, Dimitrios M Thilikos, Michalis Vazirgiannis, Evaluating cooperation in communities with the k-core structure, in: 2011 International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining, IEEE, 2011, pp. 87–93.
- [120] Chengbin Peng, Tamara G. Kolda, Ali Pinar, Accelerating community detection by using k-core subgraphs, 2014, arXiv preprint arXiv:1403.2226.
- [121] Rong-Hua Li, Lu Qin, Jeffrey Xu Yu, Rui Mao, Influential community search in large networks, Proc. VLDB Endow. 8 (5) (2015) 509–520.
- [122] Philip Meyer, H. Siy, Sanjukta Bhowmick, Identifying important classes of large software systems through k-core decomposition, Adv. Complex Syst. 17 (07n08) (2014) 1550004.

- [123] François Rousseau, Michalis Vazirgiannis, Main core retention on graph-of-words for single-document keyword extraction, in: European Conference on Information Retrieval, Springer, 2015, pp. 382–393.
- [124] Shibamouli Lahiri, Sagnik Ray Choudhury, Cornelia Caragea, Keyword and keyphrase extraction using centrality measures on collocation networks, 2014, arXiv preprint arXiv:1401.6571.
- [125] Daniel R. Wuellner, Soumen Roy, Raissa M. D'Souza, Resilience and rewiring of the passenger airline networks in the united states, Phys. Rev. E 82 (5) (2010) 056101.
- [126] Yang Yang, Takashi Nishikawa, Adilson E. Motter, Small vulnerable sets determine large network cascades in power grids, Science 358 (6365) (2017) eaan3184.
- [127] Charles Zachary Marshak, Applications of Network Science to Criminal Networks, University Education, and Ecology (Ph.D. thesis), UCLA, 2017.
- [128] Antonios Garas, Panos Argyrakis, Céline Rozenblat, Marco Tomassini, Shlomo Havlin, Worldwide spreading of economic crisis, New J. Phys. 12 (11) (2010) 113043.
- [129] Pol Colomer-de Simón, M.A.ngeles Serrano, Mariano G Beiró, J Ignacio Alvarez-Hamelin, Marián Boguná, Deciphering the global organization of clustering in real complex networks, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013) 2517.
- [130] Xuan He, Hai Zhao, Wei Cai, Guang-Guang Li, Fan-Dong Pei, Analyzing the structure of earthquake network by k-core decomposition, Physica A 421 (2015) 34–43.
- [131] Sumiyoshi Abe, Norikazu Suzuki, Scale-free network of earthquakes, Europhys. Lett. 65 (4) (2004) 581.
- [132] J.K. Gardner, Leon Knopoff, Is the sequence of earthquakes in Southern California, with aftershocks removed, Poissonian? Bull. Seismol. Soc. Am. 64 (5) (1974) 1363–1367.
- [133] Chaoming Song, Shlomo Havlin, Hernan A. Makse, Self-similarity of complex networks, Nature 433 (7024) (2005) 392.
- [134] Stefano Boccaletti, Vito Latora, Yamir Moreno, Martin Chavez, D-U Hwang, Complex networks: Structure and dynamics, Phys. Rep. 424 (4–5) (2006) 175–308.
- [135] Chaoming Song, Shlomo Havlin, Hernán A. Makse, Origins of fractality in the growth of complex networks, Nat. Phys. 2 (4) (2006) 275.
- [136] Lazaros K. Gallos, Chaoming Song, Hernán A. Makse, A review of fractality and self-similarity in complex networks, Physica A 386 (2) (2007) 686–691.
- [137] Fragkiskos Malliaros, Christos Giatsidis, Apostolos Papadopoulos, Michalis Vazirgiannis, The core decomposition of networks: Theory, algorithms and applications, 2019.